

Durham E-Theses

Faith, dialogue and difference in English Christian community work: learning "good practice"?

Orton, Andrew

How to cite:

Orton, Andrew (2008) Faith, dialogue and difference in English Christian community work: learning "good practice"?, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/2921/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Faith, Dialogue and Difference in English Christian Community Work: Learning "Good Practice"?

PhD Thesis - Volume 2

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author or the university to which it was submitted. No quotation from it, or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author or university, and any information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Andrew Orton

School of Applied Social Sciences Durham University



2008

0 7 OCT 2008

Contents

VOLUME 2

APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF STAGE 1 EVIDENCE	470
APPENDIX B: STAGE 1 INTERVIEW THEMES/QUESTIONS	484
APPENDIX C: SUMMARY OF STAGE 2 EVIDENCE	491
APPENDIX D: SUMMARY OF STAGE 3 EVIDENCE	524
STAGE 3A – URBAN MINISTRY AND THEOLOGY PROJECT CASE STUDY	524
STAGE 3B – LEARNING AND TRAINING-FOCUSED WORK	532
APPENDIX E: QUESTIONS/THEMES FOR PHASE 3 (TRAINING-RELATED)	SEMI-
STRUCTURED INTERVIEWS	540
STUDENT QUESTIONS	540
OTHER LOCAL STAKEHOLDER QUESTIONS	544
APPENDIX F: RELATED ACADEMIC CONFERENCES ATTENDED	547
APPENDIX G: SAMPLE NVIVO ANALYSIS TABLE	552
APPENDIX H: THE CHURCH-RELATED COMMUNITY WORK COVENANT	'OF
THE UNITED REFORMED CHURCH	561
APPENDIX I: THE FAITHWORKS CHARTER	575
REFERENCES	581

Appendix A: Summary of Stage 1 Evidence

List of Formal Interviewees for Stage 1

Code	Interviewee Description	Date
1A	Director responsible for regeneration and partnership work in the North of England for a large, long-established national Christian charity	31 st March 2005
1B	National mission advisor, inter- denominational body	8 th April 2005
1C	Infrastructure support worker, newly- established sub-regional infrastructure support organisation for churches in a relatively isolated and less diverse part of the country	11 th April 2005
1D	Training and Development Worker for a Methodist Circuit	19 th April 2005
1E	Urban Ministry Officer, northern Church of England diocese	20 th April 2005

1F	Co-ordinator of national association of Christian community workers	21 st April 2005
1G	National support worker for one national denomination's Church-Related Community Development Worker programme	25 th April 2005
1H	Project worker for a large statutory- funded regeneration project in a Midlands city, also trustee of a Christian community worker's network	26 th April 2005
11	Chief Executive, sub-regional multi-faith infrastructure support organisation	5 th May 2005
1 J	Staff member providing support to churches getting involved in their neighbourhoods in part of a large, very diverse city, employed by a national charity with a Christian heritage	17 th May 2005
1K	Movement director of a relatively new national para-church body aiming to support, resource and speak up for	19 th May 2005

1	Christians involved in serving the needs	
i •	of their local communities and society	
)	as a whole	
1L	Grants Officer for national church-	19 th May 2005
	established grant-giving body	
+		
1M	Member of the clergy with four and a	23 rd May 2005
<u>.</u>	half year's experience of piloting a new	
	'community priest' role working on two	
	estates, but without being attached to a	
	church building or congregation; now	
ľ	parish priest for a inner London parish	
4.11		o th the same
1N		24 th May 2005
	infrastructure network	
40		a th
10	Civil servant responsible for faith-	24 th May 2005
	related matters for a central	
	government department	
1P	Chief Executive of a church	14 th October 2005
	development team employed by a	
	Church of England diocese, based in a	
	diverse, multi-ethnic city	
	,	

Whilst the current post descriptions listed above give an indication of the respondent's primary paid role, in virtually all cases the respondents also had a wide range of historical experience and experience from other roles which was highly relevant to the topic concerned.

Written background information on each of the organisations represented was also collected where available and appropriate, to supplement the interview and set the answers given in their particular local context. Some of these organisations had also produced their own published case studies of community work projects, which were also collected and analysed.

Given that many of these interviewees have a national profile, descriptions are comparatively vague, and have been made even more anonymised when used in context in the full text, to safeguard confidentiality. For these reasons, individual quotes have not been fully indexed to particular respondents in the thesis text, although basic descriptors have been used to locate the quote to some degree. Interviewees were aware that, whilst basic steps would be taken to safeguard confidentiality, it might be possible for someone familiar with the field to deduce some connections between particular post-holders and the views quoted. Depending on the interview context, most

interviews were fully recorded and transcribed, but in a few cases (where conditions did not permit successful recording), detailed notes were taken instead.

Stage 1 - List of Conferences and Events Attended

Conference Title & Short Description	Organisers	Location	Date	Evidence Gathered
Being Good Neighbours: A conference for	Christian Community	Warwick Road		Programme, my notes from
anyone across the UK interested in church-	Work Alliance	United Reformed	2004	presentations and workshops.
related community development'		Church, Coventry		
'Faith in Community Development' Seminar	Community	Durham	31st March 2005	Researcher notes, copies of
	Development Exchange	Cathedral,		flipchart notes from group
	/ Churches Community	Durham		discussions.
	Work Alliance / Faith-			
	based Regeneration			
	Network / Anglia Ruskin	i ·		
	University			

'Bridgebuilders: Working for greater	Preston Faith Forum /	St. Augustine's	15 th September	Project summary, programme,
understanding and co-operation between the	Greg Smith, University	New Avenham	2005	participant list, presentation
faith communities and local statutory	of East London	Centre, Preston		handout (project history case
agencies'				study), my notes, short report,
				official full report, photographs
				of flipcharts from workshop
				discussions on benefits, issues
				and disadvantages of working in
				partnership, scenarios and
				papers designed to encourage
				reflection produced after the
				event based on the
				proceedings.

'Seeds of Enterprise: Faith-Based	Faith-based	Zorastrian Centre	20 th September	Conference pack, including
Organisations in Community and Social	Regeneration Network	for Europe,	2005	aims of conference, related
Enterprise', including presentations from		Harrow		newsletters, my notes (loose
practitioners on their experiences, question and			·	leaf), information on host
answer sessions, and 'partnership and vision'				organisation, keynote speakers'
workshop.				profiles.
'Spotlight on Urban Housing Estates'	National Estate	Carrs Lane	26 th September	Programme; Annual Report &
	Churches Network	Centre,	2005	Accounts; notes from
		Birmingham		presentations, informal
				individual discussions and group
				workshops (p36-41 of journal).

(Changing World Effective Church, Appuel	Churches Beginnel	St. Catherine's 21st October 2005	Handoute from procentations
'Changing World, Effective Church: Annual	Churches Regional	St. Catherine's 21st October 2005	Handouts from presentations,
Convention of the Churches Regional	Commission in	Church	participant list, annual report of
Commission' Including sessions on:	Yorkshire and the	Conference	organiser, printed case study of
"Flows, fear and faith: An overview of the	Humber Annual	Centre, Wakefield	a charismatic Pentecostal
trends and issues that face communities in	Conference		church's involvement in
Britain [including] globalisation and 24/7", as			community and youth work from
well as how to "equip people to respond" to			the workshop, my notes (p54-58
these changes.			of journal).
'creative ways through which we can live out			
our mission for transformation, justice and			
social cohesion' & the leadership qualities			
needed to achieve this			
Various workshops; attended "Christian			:
partnership with Regeneration initiatives"			
And a panel discussion with questions from the	Pag	ge 478	
floor			

Urban Seminar including sessions on 're-	Baptist Union	Shoreditch	28th October 2005	Case study of another Baptist
imagining urban church' and 'building a multi-		Tabernacle,		project: (their 'reflection over 12
racial church'.		London		years'), multi-cultural publicity
	5	London		and annual report for another
				church's community activities,
				my notes (journal p.58-64) and
				recordings
iChurch: Intelligent Church in the 21st Century	Faithworks	Eastbourne	4 th - 6 th November	CD recordings of key
		:	2005	addresses, conference
		,		programme, journal p.65-75

CCWA Biennial conference 2005: 'The	Christian Community	Swanwick	21 st – 23 rd	Journal p.100-110. List of
Reflective Practitioner	Work Alliance	conference	November 2005	participants, worship booklet,
		centre,		newsletters, conference
		Derbyshire		programme, related leaflets.
Bridgebuilders (follow up session): 'Faith in	Preston Faith Forum /	Town Hall,	23 rd November	Journal p.110-111 and as above
the Statutory Sector': Event focused on building	Greg Smith, University	Preston	2005	for first session.
partnerships between faith organisations and	of East London			
statutory organisations in the area, highlighting				
the difficulties for faith projects engaging in such				
activity.				

'Faith Makes Communities Work'	Community	Newcastle upon	4 th May 2006	Notes on separate sheets and
	Development North	Tyne	,	journal p.142-143, conference
	East event (with Black			programme (with notes added),
	Ethnic Minority			attendee list, conference
	Community			publicity.
	Organisations Network,			
	Churches Regional			
	Commission & Christian			
	Community Work			
	Alliance)	1		

Citizenship Foundation	Leeds	13 th July 2006	Journal p.159, website
with eight other faith-			resources, and full project
related non-			report: Hatch, B. (2006)
governmental			Diversity and Dialogue: Building
organisations.			Better Understanding Between
			Young People Living in a Multi-
			Faith World, London: Save the
			Children
	with eight other faith- related non- governmental	with eight other faith- related non- governmental	with eight other faith- related non- governmental

Data collected at these conferences (and other conferences/events attended as part of Stages 2 and 3) consisted of two principle kinds -

(i) data from the formal presentations made, including the particular perspectives on good practice advocated from the organisers and presenters.

(ii) data from fellow participants, gathered in any interactive workshops or similar activities organised as part of the programme, or gathered through informal conversations with fellow participants during the course of the events.

Collectively, this data reinforced the findings and key themes analysed elsewhere, whilst also providing a degree of wider external validity through the opportunities to explore the views of a wide variety of participants from across the country as well as the positions taken by prominent infrastructure agencies on key issues and themes.

Additional documents and resources relating to the positions of the interviewees/conference organisers and their organisations were also collected where available to supplement the data listed above. Where these are in the public domain, they have been directly cited at appropriate places within the thesis.

Appendix B: Stage 1 Interview Themes/Questions

As usual for semi-structured interviews, the following themes are intended as prompts and pointers to enable the discussion to flow, rather than being intended as questions which will be asked strictly in this form. Some questions will be more relevant for some respondents than for others, and the focus of the interview adjusted accordingly.

Basic context questions (for infrastructure organisations):

How many organisations supported?

How many of these are involved in regeneration activity? [define regeneration]

In what ways are they involved in regeneration activity?

What types of organisations are these? (How many of these are church-based & how many are voluntary organisations? Any other types?)

Any noticeable differences between these different types in the ways that they operate, support that they require, etc.?

What do you see as the main development needs for these organisations?

What sort of support do you provide? How well received is this support?

Basic context questions (for training providers):

How many practitioners or organisations do you work with to provide training?

What are their backgrounds and different learning/development needs?

How is any faith-based element of the course connected to or integrated with the rest of the training provision? What influences have affected the design of the course in this way?

Policy context questions:

How would you summarise current Government policy on the role of faith-based organisations in regeneration?

What are the positive aspects of this approach, from your point of view?

Are there any less positive aspects or issues which arise from this approach? If so, what are they?

How does the current policy context affect your work? What issues arise from this context?

How involved would you say that faith-based organisations are in current government regeneration initiatives?

What factors aid this involvement?

What factors limit this involvement?

How would you describe / What do you understand to be the relationship between faith 'communities' and faith-based organisations?

What should be the defining question or limit to determine whether faith-based organisations can be eligible for state funding? Why?

Good practice questions:

I'm particularly interested in the role of faith-based community work in the regeneration of local areas. What do you consider to be good practice in this field? Why?

Could you give me an example of good practice that you have come across? What makes this good practice?

What do you consider to be bad practice? Could you give me an example of this that you have come across? What makes this bad practice?

What are the main issues or areas where there are different or conflicting perspectives on good practice?

What do you think other people consider to be good practice in this field?

Why? How are any differences between ideas manifested? How are any differences dealt with?

Are you involved in promoting your view of good practice to other organisations? If so, how? (e.g. training, conferences, etc.)

Questions concerning links between theology and practice:

Does an organisation's stated theology and beliefs affect the way they conduct their practice? If so, in what ways?

How would you describe the relationship between an organisation's stated theology and its values - How do these affect each other, if at all?

How does this relationship between theology and values affect the way that they conduct their practice? i.e. How do they relate their action to their religious beliefs/vice versa?

Do theology and values make faith based work distinctive, and if so, how?

Communicating good practice

How do practitioners and organisations communicate their understanding of 'good practice' to each other:

- (i) internally? (between staff, volunteers, management boards, etc.) (drawing on management theory, prompt with ethos, culture, structures, support mechanisms, etc. as examples if necessary the point of this question is to get insight into how these different elements work in this setting, not replicate existing management theoretical insight)
 - a. How do these internal dynamics develop?
 - b. What impact do these internal dynamics have on how individual practitioners work and discuss/present their work?
 - c. What impact do practitioners' understandings of their work affect the organisational policy and practice?
- (ii) externally (including local people, other agencies, partnership boards, sponsoring bodies, local churches, etc.)
 - a. Are different messages presented to different people/organisations? If so, how are these reconciled with the organisation's overall beliefs, values and aims?
 - b. How does the way they communicate affect a practitioner's or organisation's ability to relate to other external practitioners or organisations? Could you give an example of a faith-based organisation that is successfully working in partnership with other organisations?

Alternatively, ask: What impact does an organisation's dynamics (including ethos, culture, structures, support mechanisms, etc.) have on individual practitioner practice? and What impact do individual practitioners have on organisational dynamics?

What effect does a practitioner's or organisations' differing understandings of 'good practice' have on their ability to communicate and work in partnerships with other people (including service users), local groups and agencies?

For organisations with training responsibilities: What is the basis that you use to inform trainee practitioners how to know and engage in good practice?

What differences, if any, have you seen arise between different people's understandings of good practice?

- o How were these being managed?
- o And how successfully?
- o What makes this successful?

How do practitioners and organisations incorporate and manage these effects in dealing with ethical dilemmas, when different values, beliefs and principles clash in relation to particular issues, situations or incidents?

Broader areas of interest

Is Christian community work related to identity? If so, how?

What do you see as being an appropriate relationship between faith and politics more generally?

Are there any particular projects that you think would prove to be a particularly interesting case study to research further?

Appendix C: Summary of Stage 2 Evidence

The key themes summarised in the table below are only intended to provide a synopsis of the issues covered, to illustrate the link between the data collected and the analysis presented in the thesis. More detailed descriptions have not been presented here to preserve anonymity, given that additional detail could prejudice the level of anonymity agreed with participants. The analysis presented in the thesis builds on a more detailed level of scrutiny which includes the dynamics within each theme, and the relationship between themes, as well as the context in which they were generated.

Date	Key Activities Observed	Associated Evidence	Summary of Key Themes
11 th July 2005	Introductory informal interviews with Bradford Faith Cohesion Programme worker and other AFC office staff	p.8 journal, additional separate notes	Cohesion, socio-economic history, leadership development activities, personal responses to diversity.
12 th July 2005	Initial meeting with Chief Executive, including discussion of the way various cohesion initiatives were developing, the development of the church-run centre in which AFC is based, and the impact of AFC's own structure, including diocesan involvement and expectations.	p. 9 journal	Reasons organisational development stalls – growing too fast, overly-worker dependent, worker moves on. Need for succession/sustainability planning integrated with founding church/theology. Proactive change .vs. reactive support. Skills training focused on single faiths needed. Different organisational structures of different denominations/faiths create issues for engagement across wider areas.

 Attended launch of church initiative for	p.10 journal (+ access	Anglican lead role, representativeness, organisational responses to
'dialogue and diversity' designed to share	to associated papers)	diversity, dialogue.
the experience of one church		
denomination in this area with the wider		
church across the country.		
Meeting of a community partnership	Agenda with notes	Building usage/development, funding difficulties, shared spaces,
involving local residents and a church	added	partnership, ownership, worker employment, relationship with statutory
regarding next steps after setbacks in		organisations, 'forgotten' estates.
developing part of the church building into		
multi-use space in a predominantly white		
area where community facilities were		
considered limited.		

Preliminary planning meeting with the Countering extremism, inter-faith work, 'common ground', relationships with p. 10-11 journal, secretary of a newly-constituted city faith statutory agencies and media, developing relationships between people of agenda with notes forum designed to plan a forthcoming different faiths and different faith leaders, challenging media stereotypes. added, minutes of development day = in the event, became previous meeting, focused on what response should be proposed plan for made to the discovery of a local forthcoming away connection with the London transport day, letter from bombings the previous week. regional assembly regarding terrorist Meeting of the full faith forum, plus some attacks on 7/7, additional visitors from the Muslim additional typed business community and BBC 'Newsnight' reflections. programme.

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		The state of the s
13 th	July	Planning day to work through the details of	Papers from meeting:	Support needed, funding/match-funding, relationship with statutory
2005	Jul.,	a sub-regional multi-faith community	'Issues from	agencies, sharing resources/building space, skills and representation
2005	ĺ	chaplaincy project, newly funded with a	discussion', a	needed, organisational structure and staffing issues to implement initial
		large budget under a Central Government	proposal for the	project vision.
		'Invest to Save' programme.	support required from	·
			the infrastructure	
			agency, list of office	
			space requirements,	
			agenda with notes	
:			added, copy of	
		· 	funding application for	
			this project.	

	Meeting with the vicar of a church with an	p.12 journal	Building usage/development, community/development worker role in
	underused historic building, seeking		developing shared space, regulations and funding targets as barrier, limited
	advice on alternative ways forward for the	·	momentum.
	church and building given that the		
	congregation could no longer sustain it.		
14 th July	Support meeting with secular project	p.13 journal, church	Application of regulations and standardised advice as inhibiting 'good
2005	worker employed by a church and the	newsletter, church's	practice', worker isolation, statutory organisation relationships – limited
2000	priest in charge, covering a range of	existing booklet	because of faith/not wanting to show partiality, identity detrimentally
,	issues including developing volunteers and	explaining their child	influenced by funding – "funders are constantly clawing at you to be
	developing child protection policies.	protection policy to	something you are not".
		staff and volunteers	

·	Network meeting of clergy and church	p.14-15 journal	'forgotten' estates; young people, countering extremism, need to involve
	members from outer-estates of one city		white communities too; spaces for honest discussion, relationship building
	discussing issues of common concern	<i>,</i>	and myth-busting, including questioning/challenge; factors which make this
			successful; finding common ground, media role exacerbating conflict.
	Meeting with Sikh project volunteer to	p. 15 journal	Culture .vs. religion, funding, meeting funder's key priorities as an ethnic
	discuss how best to word an application to		minority group.
	the Lottery funding distributor 'Awards for		
	All' and comply with their requirements.		
_			

Meeting of the AFC staffing sub-group of	p.15 journal, copy of	Balancing reactive 'customer'-led work with proactive 'outreach' work
the management board, discussing job	Big Lottery Fund bid	through separate job roles; associated aims, skills and targets agreed with
descriptions for proposed new project	which had led to the	funder.
workers.	funding of these	
	posts, offer letter and	
	proposed job	
	descriptions.	·
	·	

15 th	July	Meeting with other faith-related sub-	Agenda with notes	Funding, monitoring, partnership, relationships with statutory bodies –
2005	July	regional and regional infrastructure bodies	added, minutes of	including both examples of effective ones and tokenistic/conflictual ones,
2005		to share progress, discuss issues of	previous meeting,	network development.
		common concern and co-ordinate their	report from regional	
	1	common regional funding returns through	body, monitoring	
		the regional body.	statistics sheets for	
			funders, information	
	l		leaflet on one of the	
			other sub-regional	
	ĺ		partners.	

17 th July	Full day planning meeting for city-wide	p.16 journal,	Managing different agendas, hospitality - sharing meal with request to use
2005	faith forum, held at a Sikh gurdwara,	programme with	headcoverings with Sikh symbols, limited collective ownership of agenda.
2000	including meal shared with wider Sikh	notes added,	
	'faith community' and address by local MP	facilitator's plan,	
		information on the	
		venue and	
		information booklet on	
		Sikh community	
		volunteering.	
		,	

18 th July 2005	Initial reflection and planning meeting with Chief Executive of AFC	p.16 journal (+provision of some of the papers for the following meetings in advance)	Bad practice = just using standardised models (e.g. model constitutions) without applying them to the circumstances (+ see below).
	Board meeting of community chaplaincy project to discuss budgets and project implementation following being awarded Central Government 'Invest to Save' funding	p. 17 journal (and had shared access to meeting papers and original application at the time).	Trustee skills/experience, funding, balancing budgets, developing policies and procedures, tension between good practice as organic development of project and good practice as development of increasingly bureaucratic paperwork requirements.



Meeting with the co-ordinator of a	a cross- p.18 journal, publicity	Division between faith communities, building links, importance of spaces for
sector, cross-discipline, cross-cul		
induction training programme to t	he area. the programme	bad practice = "smoothing over difference when we should have recognised
This was designed to develop con	ntacts in scheme.	it", competition .vs. complementary / collaboration, identity politics over
a part of the sub-region where AF	C had	'race' issues.
less referrals, and to explore		
complementarity of their scheme	with a	
similar scheme run by AFC.		
Meeting with the priest of a Catho	olic p. 18 journal	Building development, funding problems, time required.
Church regarding sources of fund		
repairing the tower on their churc	h	

16th August 2005	Planning meeting for Inter-Cultural Communication and Leadership School with worker and volunteers Meeting with staff member from a volunteer bureau regarding working together and mutual referrals	p. 19 journal p.19 / 47 journal	Developing relationships across difference, need for developing skills (including leadership skills), funding difficulties, ownership of resulting agenda. Partnership, "the volunteering dimension of faith .vs. the faith dimension of volunteering", mutual referrals and sharing resources.
	Board meeting of community chaplaincy project	p.20 journal, accompanying papers – agenda, minutes, draft tender document for evaluation of the project, draft staff policies and budgets	Establishing formalised bureaucratic project with multiple professionalised policies & systems, risk assessment, evaluation, managing finance and funding, staff recruitment.

Informal discussion with those in the office	p.20 journal	Responses:
(including staff and volunteers from		For funding and publicity: "you probably wouldn't call it that we
different projects) about the issues	,	would call it 'South Asian' or something" (race/faith identity
involved in focused work with a particular		slippage)
faith community, in this case Muslims.		2. "If you want to reach all faiths, its essential you have people
	·	[workers] who are faith specific" (worker identity/role)
		Muslim community projects as spaces for having discussions and
		making connections. "You don't go to the mosques to have these
·		debates; you go to Muslim community centres, groups or Islamic
		Relief", as asking questions in mosques was frequently seen as
		questioning the Prophet and blasphemous, leading to you being
		"chucked out". (faith-specific resistance)
		4. Need for informal safe spaces where different people can meet and
		find common experiences/points of contact to facilitate dialogue.

	Follow-up meeting of AFC staffing sub-	Copy of proposed job	Job descriptions and required person specifications, advertising and
i	group to finalise job descriptions for	advertisement,	recruitment process; debate over "strong" vs "effective" leadership skills =
	proposed new project workers	agenda, draft job	with latter preferred as "strong leadership skills people" in the Church of
		descriptions and	England seen as "a pain" by one attendee; debate over place for requiring
		person specifications	personal commitment to respecting others, relationship to different faith
			views, and how this might relate to perceived purpose of these roles.

8th September 2005 Meeting with secular project worker employed by a church and the priest in charge, reviewing progress on policies since 14/7/05 and considering whether the project should become separately registered as a charity and organisation in its own right (as it was currently operating under the auspices of the church)

p.21 journal and full recording, copy of existing constitution

Formalising of policies led to more transferable practices, but risk assessment meant some young people who wanted to be involved as volunteers were excluded from helping during summer playscheme, and they could only employ existing childminders/school employees with existing CRB clearance for the scheme.

Trajectory: project starting when church declined, now been going 10 years. Ownership — different views of development, concern about losing identity and control if project moves away from origins, Vicar: "I don't mind whatever it is, providing I don't get a cuckoo in the nest!", hybrid forms of constitution involving different degrees of continued church involvement, tensions between worker/church perspectives re extent of religious role — bringing faith in a bit more .vs. not pushing religious aspect, unconditional service. Funding important- vicar: concern with not "losing your identity" because of "bending for funders", especially being "in hock to the council", citing another local vicar as saying "Don't change what your organisation is about

Page 5 for a few quid from the council".

Concluded this depends on getting the vision right first.

Meeting with an organiser from an East	p.23 journal	Informal group operation (meeting daily for lunch and friendship) .vs. formal
Asian elderly men's group held at a Hindu		requirements of funders (including constitutions, bank accounts, etc.),
temple, trying to understand what group		existing operation dependent on informal relationships (e.g. no rent payable
activities might be considered fundable		to temple for group usage because of the people involved),
from other sources, and what		Funding for religious .vs. cultural activities to secure funding.
requirements might be associated with	·	Starting small .vs. annual programme to secure funding.
this.		
Preparatory meeting with vicar regarding	p. 23 journal	Making links across difference, Anglican lead role (developed from initial
the development of an inter-faith forum in	·	church partnership), Government .vs. local authority funding (but all seen as
a small district	}	connected to riots, bombings), engagement of people with more "extreme"

	Meeting of this inter-faith forum at a parish church, including discussion of issues being faced and how the forum might be developed	p.23 journal	
	Meeting at a Sikh Gurdwara to discuss how best to address the challenges being faced in opening up the Gurdwara to the local community, including managing their committee & developing teaching work.	p.24 journal	Formalising structures and employment policies, change of funding, services to own community only or open universally, difference between promotion of religion and educating in skills (e.g. IT) just for Sikhs, integrity .vs. temporary fudge with the hope that "the community coming" in will lead to changed attitudes in the Sikh community, making links with other similar projects to learn from them.
12 th September 2005	Meeting with prominent Muslim regarding interfaith work, including gathering information for developing contacts	p. 26 journal	Needing all faith 'representation' on multi-faith projects, skills audit for board, faith-specific work requiring involvement of faith-specific scholars to promote cohesion from within that faith community.

Meeting of city-wide faith forum	p. 26-27 journal	Structuring in all faith representation on forum (members and directors);
		difficulty of balancing this with manageable numbers, definitions (e.g. how to
,	1	represent diversity from within religions), and making meetings manageable;
		expectation on a few active people from minority faith communities to be on
		multiple boards; potential of vicars currently involved to encourage wider
		representation in long term?
	·	

13 th	Interview with AFC Chair (who is also a	Full recording, my	Shared building usage, 'sacred space', 'what is church?', boundaries, non-
September	Bishop in one of the diocese areas	notes, transcript	judgemental and open to all without condition (grace) whilst needing clarity
2005	covered by the project)		of vision of the contribution of faith, project development trajectory, Anglican
2000			lead role (but statutory frequently assume talking to them is talking to all of
			the church; limit to how far Bishops can direct change), role of community
			work in managing organisational change and conflict, proactive .vs. reactive,
			inward .vs. outward looking congregations, need for clergy skill
			development, infrastructure organisation role to work with those of 'good
,			will' to set examples which 'capture the imagination' of others. Following
			Jesus' model: The first sign of the Kingdom is to receive what people give,
			then heal/respond to need, then offer words or affirmation.
		<u> </u>	

	Further meeting of faith-related sub-	p. 27 journal, regional	Partnership on community projects as route to better relationships between
	regional and regional infrastructure bodies,	newsletters, agenda	faith communities e.g. managing to get three churches from different
l	sharing their progress and challenges.	and previous minutes.	denominations to collaborate on a joint youth project, despite the fact that
			previously they "wouldn't spit on each other if they were on fire"; faith group
			involvement in wider coalitions taking action on cohesion, whilst statutory
			agencies often ignored incidents; difficulties of monitoring/capturing quality
			of this work; representation .vs. participation in forums and partnerships.
	Formal launch of a city-wide faith forum,	p.28-29 journal,	Setting and advocating a common agenda, including shared value
	including initial discussion of what their	agenda, previous	statement – but representing who? Recognising or suppressing diversity
	own 'common agenda' might be.	minutes and copy of	within faith groups, or finding a 'middle way'. How would this be used?
		their objects.	Managing different agendas, media role exacerbating difference.
		<u> </u>	

14 th September 2005	Training session for ordinands from a less diverse area run by church-led initiative for 'dialogue and diversity', developing awareness of other faiths	p.30-31 journal, programme, leaflet for inter-faith centre visited	Religious and cultural literacy, clergy skills/training, culture-religion-politics interaction, fundamentalism and interpretation, diversity within religion.
	Meeting of a church-led partnership with members of the local community in which they were based, aiming to address the lack of community facilities on the estate through a range of means including developing the church building, with limited local authority support.	p. 32 journal, agenda and previous minutes	Building usage/development, ownership, shared spaces vs separate spaces, funding difficulties, facilitating community and young people's activities, 'forgotten estates'.

21st	Planning meeting for a residential training	p. 34 journal and	Publicising via networks, ensuring balanced representation in attendance,
September	programme for young people aged around	leaflet for advertising	programme planning to enable process to handle difference, common
2005	18-30 who were deemed to be developing	programme	values, building relationships, leadership, dialogue.
1	'community leaders', designed to help		
:	them build relationships across cultures		
	and develop their leadership and		
	communication skills		
	· <u> </u>		

AFC Trustees meeting, covering issues p. 35-36 journal, Retaining staff experience despite turnover, funding/financing this work, relevant to the organisation's agenda, minutes of ownership vs funding agreements with sponsoring bodies, developing development, especially service level last meeting, cohesion work, risk assessment, monitoring progress, strategic planning agreements with the sponsoring dioceses. and vision, creating space for theological reflection more difficult in multiaccompanying papers, including: faith environment. board/staff development day report, risk assessment report, Chief Executive's quarterly report, etc.

27 th	Meeting of those interested in making	p.42-43 journal,	Anglican lead role, symbolising diversity, promoting equality,
September	churches more accessible to people with	agenda, invitation	representativeness .vs. building networks, research, 'invisibility' of projects
2005	disabilities, organised by Anglican church	letter, minutes of	compared to churches, "good practice" as accessibility, "good practice" as
2000	dioceses, held in a Roman Catholic	previous meeting,	another stressful demand on clergy, funding availability stimulated group
	church, comprising of attendees from a	draft logos.	development at this point by tapping into broader church desire to respond
	range of churches, a specialist diocesan		to "good practice" requirements.
	officer, and newly including disabled		
	people from the local area, aiming to		
	conduct research on the accessibility of		
	churches to people with disabilities.		
	Discussion also included the name of the		
	group, its logo, mission statement, and		
	access to start-up grants.		
	<u></u>		

Board meeting of community chaplaincy	p. 44 journal, minutes	Debates over "good practice" in developing policies, especially in
project	of previous meeting,	responding to ethical dilemmas over recruitment of ex-offenders (balancing
	copy of email	risk, constraints on ability to do the job and rehabilitation) and managing
	exchange regarding	funding.
	ethical finance policy	
Meeting to support the Chair of a community centre established by a church	p. 45 journal, information from	Funding – difficulties applying, need for support, requirement for independence from church, contracting possibilities; project development
regarding funding and sustainability	centre's website and annual report,	trajectory, sustainability, relationship with church - project detachment from church as 'unhealthy' and 'shortsighted' (but not always recognised by
	including 'their story'	church).
	of development.	
	Meeting to support the Chair of a community centre established by a church	project of previous meeting, copy of email exchange regarding ethical finance policy Meeting to support the Chair of a p. 45 journal, information from centre's website and annual report, including 'their story'

Meeting with the co-ordinator of a city-wide faith forum regarding relationships with the council and provision of mentoring support forum and draft constitution proposed structure for forum and draft relying on a few key people to sustain year after year, "people who push themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness. Meeting with the co-ordinator of a city-wide p. 46 journal, draft proposed structure for forum and draft constitution proposed structure for forum and draft political requirements ("we have to work with everybody or nobody"), organisational vision and structure relationship, good practice = not just relying on a few key people to sustain year after year, "people who push themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness. Meeting with the vicar of a church-based p. 47 journal, Project led to church much more engaged with community, development
council and provision of mentoring support forum and draft constitution political requirements ("we have to work with everybody or nobody"), organisational vision and structure relationship, good practice = not just relying on a few key people to sustain year after year, "people who push themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness.
constitution organisational vision and structure relationship, good practice = not just relying on a few key people to sustain year after year, "people who push themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness.
relying on a few key people to sustain year after year, "people who push themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness.
themselves forward" .vs. those who make a "real contribution", faith distinctiveness.
distinctiveness.
Meeting with the vicar of a church-based p. 47 journal, Project led to church much more engaged with community, development
Meeting with the vicar of a church-based p. 47 journal, Project led to church much more engaged with community, development
community project regarding improving a information from trajectory - concern over project 'divorcing' from church in the long term,
proposed bid for funding to the Lottery.
bid to Lottery funding
body

Short reflective meeting with AFC staff	p. 45 & 47 journal	Bureaucratic funding guidance limiting accessibility to faith groups; the 10%
regarding observations so far		extra faith bit of (for example) volunteering .vs. a 100% integrated way of
		approaching volunteering from a faith perspective.

13 th	Interview with the worker for a	p. 48-49 journal,	Distinctiveness – style not content, mission , dialogue & building
October	Methodist/ecumenical inner-city project	recording of interview,	relationships crucial (e.g. sharing food), different approach to building,
2005		transcript of interview,	project development, building bridges, inter-faith, welcome, new way of
2003		paper produced by	being church, multiple pressures on vicars – need support (different for
		project reflecting on	community workers, especially as this project managed by Methodist
		whether to recruit	District), ownership, long term presence, quick response potential, statutory
		non-Christian	relationship, proselytisation (institutional focus on getting people to join and
		volunteers, report on	"be like us" = bad practice .vs. evangelism/mission = good practice (God-
:		'Urban Hearings'	focused, "how do we get alongside what God is doing?") > "community work
		which they were	model of mission" involving a lot of listening, knowing who we are,
		involved in, copy of	discovering a shared agenda, an "arena for transformation" for both "us and
		hymn written to reflect	them" in which relationships of trust and credibility are developed that allow
		their work, various	people to disagree with you (and you with them).
		other newsletters,	
		leaflets and articles.	
		Page 5	19

	Informal interview with Policy Officer for	Notes	Policy context, church response.
	Churches Regional Commission in		
	Yorkshire and the Humber		
20 th	Planning meeting for local group delivering	p. 52-53 journal,	Difference within faith, representativeness in dialogue, challenge,
October	religious literacy training	proposed programme,	importance of honesty, difficulties when people insist 'their view is the only
2005		booking form, agenda	right one', clergy training, forum link, limited availability of training on faith
2005			beyond basic literacy, developing this group (including representation from
		,	more faiths), demand for training on Islam as 'up to the minute' issue .vs.
			low demand for training on Christianity 'as people think they know', but often
			don't.
	1		

Discussion with Chief Executive of AFC	Copy of 'my	(see below – 10/1/06).
regarding final reflections on fieldwork	reflections' paper with	
	comments from Chief	
	Executive marked on.	
		·

13th - 17th	Inter-Cultural Communication and	p. 77-95 journal,	Dialogue, identity, media role (and contested potential to influence),
November	Leadership School	recording & transcript	relationships with 'the other', challenge, fears and challenging
2005		of presentation	stereotypes/myths, safe spaces, risk, socio-economic/culture impact, effects
(excluding		session	of emotions, exclusion, difference within and between faiths (and between
15 th am)			faith/secular agnostic/atheist) and cultures; understanding languages,
		,	cultures and theologies; different perceptions, foreign policy/terrorism
			impact, leadership qualities/skills including teamwork and building trust,
			managing process of training and relationship building, building joint
			activities/organisation for future – difficulties of getting beyond 'preaching to
			the converted'.

18th November 2005	Interview with Chair and Project Worker for a church-based 'faiths-together' community project unconnected with AFC, situated opposite a partnership project developed for Black and Minority Ethnic cultural groups' use.	p.96-100 journal, recording of Chair interview	Hospitality, shared and separate spaces, meeting spaces, partnership, change, ownership, ethos, funding – effect on change, project trajectory, sustainability, church-community project relationship, dialogue, evangelism.
10 th January 2006	Final meeting with Chief Executive and the full board following their AGM to feedback findings and discuss implications.	p. 159 journal, agendas, previous minutes, 'reflections' paper	Distinctiveness, shared and different values, evangelism, good practice = not objectifying people, good practice = having a choice.

Appendix D: Summary of Stage 3 Evidence

Stage 3a - Urban Ministry and Theology Project Case Study

Comparator / Context-Setting and Contact-Building Interviews

The following interviews helped establish the context for the third case study, confirmed similar trends and issues to those found in stages 1 and 2 were present in this region, and were used to develop contacts from which the specific Urban Ministry and Theology Project (UMTP) case study was chosen. Detailed notes were taken from these interviews, but they were not recorded.

Description	Associated Evidence	Date
Archdeacon of Anglican diocese with responsibility for urban affairs, based in large Northern city.	Notes from interview.	4th May 2005 &12th
Archdeacon of another Anglican diocese covering both rural and urban areas	Notes from interview.	24th October 2005

Chief Executive, large local church-initiated	Annual	Report	4th May 2005
project which was now independent, cited as	2003-4,	publicity	1
providing informal support to other local	material.		
projects because of its relatively-advanced			1
stage of development.			

Participant Observation

This formed an extended reflective conversation carried out over the following period, in which UMTP's approach was discussed interactively in relationship to the themes previously identified and any new themes which arose through observation of their work. Notes and additional associated evidence were collected and analysed as part of this process, as detailed in the following table.

Date	Key Activities Observed	Associated Evidence
9/11/05	Initial in-depth interview with the priest in charge of the project	Full recording, transcript, question sheet with notes added.
7/12/05	Initial discussion with priest in charge	Journal p. 113

	Meeting with architects and builders over	Journal p.113, copy of
	building work to rebuild church as mixed use	proposed publicity for new
	church/community centre, and tour of building	centre
	work in progress	
	Informal conversation with another clergy	Journal p.1/13
	member of staff	
	Attending local partnership planning day	Journal p.113-114
	concerning children's services, particularly	
	'parent participation sub-group', with member	
	of staff responsible for 'community	
	engagement'	
8/12/05	Attending meeting of a group of community	Journal p.115, minutes of
	agencies working together to support asylum	previous meeting
	seekers	,
	Attending Partnership Board responsible for	Journal p. 116-117; minutes
	planning and running new church/community	of previous meeting;
1	centre	'Suggested structure'
) 1		diagram; proposed 'Health
1		and Safety', 'Equal
		Opportunities' and 'Child
		Protection' policies

	Site visit to St. Silas' church and informal	'Order of Service' for
	interview with the related member of clergy;	Christingle celebration
	Observation of Christingle rehearsal involving	
	local youth agency and black gospel choir	· ·
9/12/05	Site visit to St. Michael's Centre (shop front)	p.118 journal
	including local resident's group meeting and	
	informal tour/interview with Church Army	·
	captain responsible for this work	
:	Visit with priest in charge to discuss wider	Annual report on health-
	community development workers' network	related initiative; publicity on
	meeting	other networks which the
		project has been
		instrumental in supporting
3/4/06	Interview with 'Community Engagement' staff	Journal p.120-123
	member	·
5/4/06	UMTP Management Committee – Partnership	Copy of Agenda and
	Building	accompanying papers:
		financial material, original
		and revised briefing on
		change towards being a
		'mission initiative', proposal
; 		for 'mission fund' assistance
; 		to retain Church Army

		
	-	captain on staff team and
		accompanying job
·		description, Business Plan
		2005-2008 for St. Martin's
		Centre Partnership, "Report
		on Community Consultation,
		October and November
		2006" conducted by UMTP
	·	staff for another church-
		based community project
:		elsewhere in the diocese,
		Journal notes p.124-125
!		
	Chanter meeting (meeting of clergy from	Concrete notes
:	Chapter meeting (meeting of clergy from	Separate notes
	wider surrounding area)	
	Discussion with priest in charge beforehand	Journal p.125-127
	St. Martin's Church Annual General Meeting	Journal p.127-129; "Annual
		Report and Financial
		Statements of the Parochial
		Church Council" 2005.
6/4/06	Youth Partnership, St. Martins' Centre	Minutes of previous meeting,
	1.	copy of slides from
		presentation given by

		statutory agency; Journal p.129-131
	Reader training course – session on 'new ways of being church' @ St. Michael's Centre shop front premises	Journal p.131-134
12/4/06	Interview with Church Army Evangelist @ St. Michael's Centre re. relationship of evangelism to UMTP work.	Journal p.135-138
	Interview with centre co-ordinator for St. Martin's Centre Partnership	Journal p.139-141
12/12/06	Staff team meeting – feedback findings and discuss paper produced	Recording

Additional Supporting Documents Consulted

'What is the Urban Ministry and Theology Project?' paper

'Sustainability and Regeneration in the East End of Newcastle' paper by Bob Langley and Peter Robinson

'Finance Facts: The facts, the figures - Your Guide to Diocesan Finance' booklet, December 2004

'Theology and Practice in Context: A Module in Urban Theology' (2007) leaflet

Sadler, J. (2005) 'A suggested process for articulating a vision and its strategic objectives' paper, downloaded 10/10/05 from < http://www.umtp.org/html/visionprocess.html >

Sadler, J. (2005) 'Church Development - Key Objective' paper,
downloaded 10/10/05 from <
http://www.umtp.org/html/churchdevelopment.html >

Job Description for combined role of the Priest in Charge at St.

Anthony's Byker with responsibility for the Community Engagement role
of UMTP, May 2005, downloaded 10/10/05 from

http://www.umtp.org/html/jobdescription.html >

Dorber, A., Miller, G., Passmore, K., Hunt, K. (2004) "A Review for the Bishop of Newcastle of the Newcastle East Deanery Urban Ministry and Theology Project, November 2004" (unpublished paper)

Social Regeneration Consultants (2006) "Walker Riverside: Community and Stakeholder Engagement Strategy", November 2006 (including background information on the area)

"The Bishop of Newcastle's Good City Hearings", downloaded from CULF website: < http://www.culf.org.uk/papers/goodcity.pdf, accessed 22/12/05 >

Robinson, P. (2005) "Opening the Future of the City: Masterplanning, culture and a cause for celebration in the East End of Newcastle", *Crucible*, October - December 2005, pp.34-42

Diocese of Newcastle (2004) For the Many Not Just the Few:

Constructing a framework for church development in areas of high
multiple deprivation, Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Diocese of Newcastle

Russell, H. (2004) <u>Urban Ministry and Theology Project, Newcastle East</u>

<u>Deanery - Evaluation Report</u>, August 2004, Liverpool: European Institute
for Urban Affairs, Liverpool John Moores University.

Stage 3b - Learning and Training-Focused Work

Student Interviews

Code	Description	Date
3A	Student Interview 1	31 st May 2006
3B	Student Interview 2	1 st June 2006
3C	Student Interview 3	7 th June 2006
3D	Student Interview 4	8 th June 2006
3E	Student Interview 5	21 st June 2006

All of the above interviews were recorded, transcribed and imported into NVIVO.

University Focus Group Attendees, 25th May 2006

In addition to Sarah Banks (Professor of Applied Social Science) and I, who can the event, the following people attended and gave their views:

- Development worker for regional secular learning-related body concerned with developing faith-related training courses
- Tutor for church-based strand of professional undergraduate university programme

- Worker, Youth Ministry Team for a Northern Catholic Diocese
- Senior Lecturer in Community Work for another Northern university, and member of enabling group for a national charity supporting Christian community workers.
- Member of staff for a local Young Men's Christian Association.
- Member of staff for another local Young Men's Christian
 Association
- Director of Masters level course in 'Theology and Ministry' at a Northern university
- Member of the Church Army working in an inner-city church project
- Regional Skills Co-ordinator for a regional Black and Ethnic
 Minority network, also involved in a local Muslim association.
- Two research associates working on a research project exploring young people's experiences of faith communities
- Worker for church-related inner-city asylum seeker and refugee
 project *
- Researcher from a university Theology department, representing a
 Doctor of Ministry programme run by that department.
- Lifelong Learning Co-ordinator and colleague from inner city international family centre.
- Representative from Regional Youth Work Unit

- Volunteer representative from Middlesbrough Council of Faiths,
 also involved in religious literacy training for statutory workers
- Representative from local Evangelical Christian Centre in mining town
- Community and Youth Worker working for an Anglican parish in a local town *
- Community Worker, regional organisation supporting men who have sex with men
- Faith communities development officer, Churches' Regional
 Commission in the North East
- Volunteer with a local faith community
- Pastor responsible for year out scheme with evangelical church in small city

Additional University Interviewees

In addition to these attendees, the following people were interviewed in person (people who both attended the focus group and were interviewed in more detail individually are marked with a *):

Code	Interviewee Description	Date
3F	Community project worker employed by Muslim Society in an urban area (including project visit)	8 th May 2006

		
3G	Local authority employed member of	18 th May 2006
	staff with extensive experience but no	ı
	formal professional qualification,	
	working for multi-ethnic community	
j.	centre project in the outer area of a	
i	large city. The centre describes itself as	
	the 'hub of the Black Minority-Ethnic	
1	community' in the city area where it is	
	based. (including project visit)	
3H	University chaplain who expressed an	31 st May 2006
	interest in the research	
31	Project worker for regional body	1 st June 2006
	investigating skills needs for faith-based	
	community workers in the region	
3J	Project worker at an international	5 th June 2006
	family centre working with diverse faith	
	groups based in an inner city location	
	(including project visit)	; ;
3K	Community and youth worker employed	5 th Jüne 2006
	by an Anglican church in a local town,	
	recently graduated from professional	
	training.*	
L	<u> </u>	L

3L	Project worker in a mosque, who is also skills worker with a regional ethnic minority network of community organisations (including project visit)	21 st June 2006
3M	Quaker volunteer responsible for youth and children's work organisation in her area	30 th June 2006

These interviews were either fully recorded or notes taken, as appropriate to the circumstances.

In addition to these full interviews, the following additional contacts were briefly interviewed by telephone:

- Organiser for Christian 'Year Out' scheme offering year-long placements for young people in churches and Christian community and youth work projects.
- Priest from a local priory who expressed an interest in the research
- Director of Mission and Pastoral Studies, theological training college
- Youth Officer Team Leader, Anglican Diocese

- Diocesan Youth Officer, another Anglican Diocese
- Social Responsibility Officer, another Anglican Diocese
- Director of the branch of an evangelical para-church organisation in the region
- Training Officer for local Methodist District
- Chair, local Council of Faiths

The analysis also draws on the official report produced following this event:

Orton, A. (2006) <u>Consultation Findings Report - Creating a Faith-Based</u>

<u>Route for the MA 'Community and Youth Work Studies' Programme</u>

<u>at Durham University?</u> June 2006, Durham: Durham University.

'Working with People from Different Faith Traditions' Focus Groups (16th and 29th January 2007)

25 people attended, including:

9 staff and/or volunteers working in various roles with refugees
and asylum seekers in different locations across the region,
including a volunteer in a 'one stop shop', a mentoring coordinator, project co-ordinator and sessional worker for a 'Time
Together' project, two volunteering co-ordinators and others.

- Training Consultant, learning and skills-development-related organisation
- 2 volunteers, inter-faith women's groups
- 2 Parent Link Workers for a primary school (one of which was also the Chair of a local play-centre)
- 2 representatives from local 'timebank' community organisation which encourages members to share time and skills with each other.
- Faith Communities Development Officer, Churches Regional
 Commission (joint organiser of the event)
- Project Manager, local 'Churches Acting Together' community
 project (joint organiser of the event) and trainee community
 development worker from the same project.
- Member of staff from local statutory Surestart scheme
- Extended Services Co-ordinator for a local children's centre
- Volunteer with a support helpline for parents
- Development Worker with a 'Toy Café Centre for Cultural Curiosity'
- 2 members of staff from group of local museums, including the
 Diversity Officer for the group.
- A representative from a city-wide Council of Faiths

Additional documents which provided relevant data from this event included copies of the notes from small group discussions collected by the facilitators and a copy of the official report:

Damm, F. (2007) <u>Working With People From Different Faith Traditions:</u>

<u>Report on the Workshops</u>, Ushaw Moor, Durham: Churches'

Regional Commission in the North East.

Additional 'Faith, Values and Diversity' Event

In addition to these events, another workshop on 'Faiths, Values and Diversity' was also observed (also listed on the Phase 1 table above). This was organised by a local Primary Care Trust in conjunction with volunteers from a local council of faiths. This event was held on 20th September 2006 in Spennymoor and attracted a mixture of public sector employees, members of faith groups and community project workers. This event included workshops where participants discussed the relationship of faith to professional practice, including several issues involving ethical dilemmas.

Appendix E: Questions/Themes for Phase 3 (Training-Related) Semi-Structured Interviews

Student Questions

Pre-cursor: PhD topic; data may be quoted, but will be anonymised; please be honest - the course is now over, ethical safeguards and there are no right or wrong answers; I'm interested in learning from their experience. Consider the whole course, not just the Christian-specific units.

What made you choose Durham as the place to do your professional training?

What issues or challenges have you encountered on the course in integrating faith with community and youth work theory?

Are there any areas which they felt the previous course prepared students (i) well for? (ii) Less well for? Are there any areas that were absent that you felt should have been covered? If so what, and how best might these be addressed?

What aspects of the course did you feel were delivered well?

Are there any aspects of the course that you feel should have been delivered in a different way? If so, how?

How able were the placement agencies at providing support and supervision in developing your professional practice?

Any learning from this experience that they feel should be taken into account in delivering future training?

What examples can they think of (e.g. from personal experience, practice, or experience of having a student on placement) of issues, challenges or dilemmas in delivering faith-based community and youth work training?

Were there any particular dilemmas between students' understandings of "good practice" and agency understandings? If so, what were the situations where these arose? Details?

How were these resolved?

Would you recommend Durham as a place to study professional community and youth work training? If so, why? If not, why not?

If you were going to re-design the course from a blank piece of paper:

What factors would be important in designing a course of this nature?

What learning aims or specific topics would be essential to be covered on a course such as this?

How would it best be structured?

Should theology be taught on the course, and if so, in what way?

How best might differences in theologies, customs and practices be dealt with on the course?

What are the relative merits of doing this training as:

Just a generic secular course

A (multiple-) faith based route

A faith-specific way? (Would a combination of these be desirable/practical?)

What are the issues or challenges that may need addressing?

How best might any issues identified be overcome?

Experience of encounter with different practices - how would they decide what is 'good practice'?

How important do they feel it is to have staff that have been professionally trained in this field? Trained at another level (if so what?)

How important is it that volunteers are trained in this field? If so, to what level?

What links, if any, would they like to have with the university in future?

Other Local Stakeholder Questions

Pre-cursor: Background of provision at Durham; PhD topic; Dual use of data for university and PhD purposes; data may be quoted, but will be anonymised; action research style - my own involvement, asking critical questions. [In addition to general questions regarding their local project story and experience of encounter with difference, as per original questions adapted as appropriate]

Have they had previous contact with the university or students from the CYW course?

If they've had contact, what was their impression / experience? e.g. what were the main practical learning needs of students that they have had on placement?

Are there any areas which they felt the previous course prepared students (i) well for? (ii) Less well for?

Were there any particular dilemmas between students' understandings of "good practice" and agency understandings? If so, what were the situations where these arose? Details?

Did you feel these were reflective of lecturer's / theoretical understandings, or student misunderstandings?

Any learning from this experience that (i) they feel should be taken into account in delivering future provision? (ii) they have gained?

If they've not had contact, were they aware that there was a course? Any reasons for not taking students / having contact?

How important do they feel it is to have staff that have been professionally trained in this field? Trained to another level? If so what?)

How important is it that volunteers are trained in this field? If so, to what level?

What do they think are the main local training needs for community and youth workers working in:

- (i) a faith-based context?
- (ii) a multi-cultural context

Can these be met in a generic course? Would they be better met in a specific faith-based course?

If so, what do they think are the relative merits of:

- (i) doing this training as a (multiple-)faith-based community and youth work route?
- (ii) doing this training in a faith-specific way?

(Would a combination of these be desirable/practical?)

What learning aims or topics might be important to ensure that the course covers?

How might these best be delivered?

In particular, how might the specific tenets of individual faiths or their different theologies, customs and practices best be incorporated or taken into account in delivering this training?

What links, if any, would they like to have with the university in future? Would offering a Masters level course be the right level to meet local training needs? Who would be the likely people interested in such a course, in their experience? Who might be excluded?

Appendix F: Related Academic Conferences Attended

Date	Conference Title	Organiser	Location
28 th January	'Sociology of	British Sociological	Bristol
2006	Religion	Association	
; ;	Postgraduate		
1	Study Group'		·
	conference		
7 th - 11 th March	2006 Annual	Association of	Chicago
2006	Meeting *	American	
		Geographers	
15 th March 2006	Launch of "Faith	Joseph Rowntree	London
	as Social Capital -	Foundation	ļ
,	Connecting or		
	Dividing" research		
	report		
8 th April 2006	"Faith, Spirituality	Winchester	Winchester
	and Social	University	
:	Change"	·	
	conference *		

Date	Conference Title	Organiser	Location
1/1 th May 2006	'Faiths and Civil		Cambridge
	Society' Seminar	University / De	
	:	Montfort University	
		/ Economic and	1
		Social Research	!
		Council	f
17 th May 2006	Day conference	Voluntary Sector	Sheffield
		Studies Network	
15 th June 2006	"Faith-Based	National Council	London
	Voluntary Action"	for Voluntary	
	seminar	Organisations /	
		Economic and	! !
		Social Research	ı i
	:	Council	
13 th - 14 th	'12 th Researching	National Council	Coventry
September 2006	the Voluntary	for Voluntary	
	Sector'	Organisations /	
,	Conference *	Voluntary Sector	
·		Studies Network	
15 th September	'Emerging	University of	Exeter
2006	Geographies of	Exeter	
	Belief' conference		

Date	Conference Title	Organiser	Location
29 th September	Faith and Human	Contextual	London
2006	Development Day *	Theology Centre /	
		Human	
		Development and	
		Capability	
		Association - Faith	
		and Development	
r		Group	1
14 th October	Ustinov Seminar *	Ustinov College,	Durham
2006	;	Durham University	
18 th November	'God Talk - In	British Sociological	London
2006	Sociology and	Association -)
	Theology' Study	Sociology of	- - - - - -
	Day	Religion Study	
	!	Group	1 9 2
6 th - 8 th	'Faith-Based	University Centre	Antwerp
December 2006	Organisations and	Saint Ignatius,	The second secon
	Poverty in the	University of	
	City' International	Antwerp	
	Seminar		·

Date	Conference Title	Organiser	Location
1st - 2nd March	'Teaching	The British and	Oxford
2007	Practical Theology	Irish Association	
	in Higher	for Practical	
	Education?	Theology /	,
		Network of Adult	4
		Theological	
		Educators / The	7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
		Higher Education	1
	,	Academy Subject	
·		Centre for	
		Philosophical and	. [
		Religious Studies	
4 th July 2007	'Faiths and Civil	Anglia Ruskin	Leicester
	Society' Seminar	University & De	
		Montfort	
		University, funded	
		by Economic and	
		Social Research	
		Council	

Presentations of work in progress on this thesis were made at the conferences indicated with a *.

Additional separate informal conversations were also held with academics working in related fields, including Douglas Davies, Richard Davies, Adam Dinham, Richard Farnell, Rob Furbey, Vivienne Lowndes, Greg Smith, Kath Smith and Mark Smith. These discussions helped establish the state of the research field, connect the researcher with useful resources and contacts, and sharpen the research focus as it developed.

Appendix G: Sample NVIVO Analysis Table

Analysis of All Nodes for All Documents Included on NVIVO

The following table is a sample of the outputs from the documents included on NVIVO. Only selected documents were included in NVIVO, and the numerical analysis of numbers of passages coded, etc. was considered less important than a more reflective building of relationships between issues as outlined in Chapter 4. However, this table has been included to show the nodes emerging from this phase of the analysis, as well as providing some justification for the issues which receive the most attention in the results presented.

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters
Funding	54	289	20	82136
/Similarity and difference/Distinctiveness & Ethos	39	192	15	83511
Partnerships	33	307	16	75700
/Contested issues/Purpose of community development/Proselytisation	32	155	19	74641

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters Coded
/Policy agenda	31	208	20	69373
/Role of theology/How theology affects practice	28	1,71	13	76616
/Learning/Skills & Training	27	129	16	42931
How faith affects practice	26	129	17	51786
Values	25	172	10	25001
Identity	24	81	11	47109
/Faith organisation/organisation structure	22	224	17	49475
/church/church-community project relationship	22	197	13	70149
/church/church vs parachurch	20	119	14	40459
Vicar or leadership role	20	123	9	31954
Motivation	18	96	11	21817
Ownership	18	126	10	42989
/Role of theology/mission	17	70	10.	24612

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters Coded
/Role of theology/reflection & reflective theology	17	79	9	23794
/Faith-organisation/Change	16	174	10	39858
/Contested issues/Ownership	16	71	9	30745
Background & History	15	94	15	25575
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice	15:	75	13	26797
Sustainability	15	42	11	19665
/Secular - faith community link/Faith	15	81	9	23602
Equal opportunities	14	78	11	23893
/Policy agenda/Implementation gap	14	46	9	17773
/Similarity and difference/difference within	14	56	9	28008
Young people & Youth Work	14	34	6	10229
Culture & faith relationship	13	7.7	10	24691
Inter-faith work	13	63	10	28124
Organisation secularisation process	13	84	10	36914

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents	Characters Coded
Dialogue	13	40	8	12933
Resources	13	18	8	4447
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/integrity				
in practice between values	13	38	8	25767
Building usage	13	63	7	23184
/Building Bridges	13	83	7	29632
/Church/What is Church?	12	75	8	29793
/Similarity and difference	12	69	6	26290
Boundaries	11	31	8	17605
/Secular - faith community link	1:1	37	8	12545
Anglican lead role	11	82	7	19125
Volunteers	10	.28	9	7311
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/Response to need	10	27	8	9263
/Good & Bad Practice/Bad Practice/worker	46	70		40045
support & employment	10	73	8	19815
Think of work as regeneration?	10	60	7	23286

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters
Extent of work	9	55	8	12671
Language	9	27	.8	7767
/Good & Bad Practice/Bad Practice	9	67	8	23595
Shared and/or safe spaces	9	.94	7	28447
/Learning/Skills & Training/Vicar Training	9	:56	7	11482
Useful contacts	9	62	6	9416
/Secular - faith community link/Secular & faith-based practice link	9	22	5	12231
/Learning/Limitations of Training	9	134	5	21332
Faith of worker	8	22	8	11913
Trajectories & Life Cycle	8	90	8	26815
/Church/Churches gifting projects to community	8	18	7	111112
Employment	8	67	6	14519
Tensions	8	39	6	6860
/Faith organisation/organisational culture development	8	31	6	13656

Node:	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters Coded
Presence	8	49	5	12349
/Faith organisation/faith organisation capacity	8	30	5	5469
/Role of theology/theological literacy	8	17	4	5125
/Learning/Result~Strengths of Training	8	.66	4	10380
/Faith organisation and Voluntary Community Sector relationship	7	31	6	10436
/Secular - faith community link/Local	7	1.7	6	8493
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/patient	7	22	6	12647
/Contested issues/Partnemalism vs Self Help & Empowerment	7	28	6	7065
/Good & Bad Practice/Bad Practice/Taking advantage of vulnerability, conditionality	7	13	4	4773
Conflict & managing conflict	6	52	6	11832
/Role of theology/theology = division	6	21	6	8838
/Learning/Skills & Training/Skills	6	32	6	10766
Implicit and Explicit Gospel	6	35	5	25444

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents	Characters Coded
/Building Bridges/creating creative spaces	6	51	5	18847
/Contested issues/Purpose of community	6	46	4	15197
/church/institutional church focus	6	10	4	6901
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/Setting the standard or kitemark	6	74	3	12416
/Good & Bad Practice/Evaluation	6	. 17	3	4876
/Learning/Challenging	6	78	3	16550
/Learning/placements	6	53	3	11.014
Barriers	5	19	5	8991
Prophetic role	5	14	5	4729
Role of worker	5	17	5	10589
/Role of theology	5	46	5	13210
/Role of theology/theological articulacy	5	25	5	6786
/Role of theology/Implicit and Explicit Gospel	5	31	5	18700
/Similarity and difference/Difference between faiths	5	21	-5	1/1050

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents	Characters Coded
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/Inclusive				
service no conditions	5.	9	4	5966
/Learning/Reason for Training	5.	44	4	4297
/Learning/Integrating faith with learning	5	333	4	46889
/Good & Bad Practice	4	62	4	19440
/Good & Bad Practice/Good practice/Need for				
openness and clarity	4	8	.4	3458
/Contested issues	4	36	.4	12529
/Contested issues/sexuality	4	9	4	3591
Prayer	4	17	3	3742
/Secular - faith community link/Constitutional				
arrangements	4	15	3	9130
Perceptions and misconceptions	3	17	3	4980
Social Capital	3	7	3	1519
/Faith org/growth	3	6	3	2140
/Building Bridges/tensions	3	4	3	1854
/Learning/group dynamics in learning	3	87	3	14154

Node	Passages Coded	Paragraphs Coded	Documents Coded	Characters Coded
/Good & Bad Practice/Bad	l li			
Practice/duplication	3	14	2	3896
/Contested issues/Moral Issues	3	5	2	1616
/Learning/tutor dynamics in learning	3	49	2	8384
Increased size of project	2	15	2	1870
Policies	2	17	2	2658
Relationships	2	4	.2	2133
Specialist provision	2	3	.2	3838
Truth	2	2	2	950
/Good & Bad Practice/Bad Practice/Reasons				
projects fail	2	23	2	4399
/Similarity and difference/Faith-specific issues	2	10	2:	4805
/Learning/multi-faith training	2	27	2	6004

Appendix H: The Church-Related Community Work Covenant of the United Reformed Church

This appendix reproduces the text (but not the layout) of the United Reformed Church's 'Church-Related Community Work Covenant', subtitled 'Creating Change in Communities', from June 2004.

1. This Covenant is an agreement between the partners responsible for the United Reformed Church Church-Related Community Work ministry in a particular situation.

2. The partners are:

- (i) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee, a sub-committee of the Ministries Committee of the United Reformed Church.
- (ii) The Church-in-Community which has requested a CRCW ministry,
- (iii) The Church-Related Community Worker.

- (iv) The District or Area Council which has requested a CRCW ministry.
- (v) The Synod which has requested a CRCW ministry.

3. We, partners, agree that:

Our commitment to Church-Related Community Work arises out of:

- Our faith in God, whose love for all people and whose desire for justice and peace was demonstrated in the giving of his Son to live among us in the world and,
- Our belief that we are called to share that love and to work for justice and peace with all people.

And that:

- Church-Related Community Work is about change, in society, in the church, in groups and in individuals; it is about the process by which change is brought about, and
- it is about the relationship of community work to the whole ministry of God's people.

It is essential that all of the partners read and understand the responsibilities for the CRCW ministry as given in the CRCW Handbook.

4. THE CHANGES WE SEEK TO BRING ABOUT

- (i) Church-Related Community Work is built on a vision of the Church as an agent of social change. This implies repentance and a call for renewal within the total life of the church as a way of working for change in society. We aim to develop our work in the context of the search for justice and peace throughout creation.
- (ii) Church-Related Community Work is centred on an awareness of the Gospel as it illuminates everyday conflicts and struggles. It is fed by an understanding of the inexhaustible truth of God that draws us into the battle with structural, as well as personal, sin, and into political action.
- (iii) Church-Related Community Work brings challenge to existing church congregations. Engaging with the community opens us to the possibility of hearing good news from those around us, especially from oppressed and marginalised people, allowing that good news to enter our own community life.
- (iv) All community work seeks to bring about the transfer of power from the powerful to the powerless in local communities. As we do community work we need to understand both our vulnerability and our power, so that, in dialogue, we can make power and resources, including decision-making, available to the wider community.
- (v) All community work aims to tackle the causes of prejudice and discrimination and to build local structures where power is justly shared; we

work to fight discrimination against others (whether because of race, nationality, belief, sex, sexual orientation, disability, age, class, or any other reason) within ourselves, our organisations and wider society.

(vi) Church-Related Community Work is one way for the church to share in God's mission. It recognises the Gospel where it is being lived out by people and communities, even though they themselves may not use the name of God. However, it can be undermined by the pressure to build up more traditional-style church life, and can conflict with some understandings of evangelism.

5. COMMUNITY WORK 'PROCESS'

- (i) The community work process is one of partnership with the community and its groupings. It is important to avoid doing things for people which they can do for themselves. Instead, we aim to enable people, groups and communities to develop according to their own needs and wishes.
- (ii) Community work starts with people's experience as they express it rather than with the assumptions of outsiders, it goes on to develop self-help and mutual aid, activating a group's own resources, including leadership, and helping it to identify, acquire and use resources from outside.
- (iii) The community work process is one of learning by doing, so that, together, people develop skills to achieve their shared objectives and to reflect on what they are doing.

- (iv) The community work process encourages the building of participatory, democratic structures in community life. It encourages groups and organisations to work together to achieve greater effectiveness over a wider area.
- (v) In Church-Related Community Work, this process is to be sought as much within the life of the church itself as in the neighbourhood.

6. MINISTRY

- (i) The ministry of Church-Related Community Work is part of the ministry of the whole people of God and it is exercised by congregations, elders, ministers of Word and Sacraments and Church-Related Community Workers.
- (ii) A Church-Related Community Worker is called by God, trained and appointed to a specific situation (the Church-in Community) in a way that is recognised by the Church. She or he works in partnership with congregations, elders, and ministers of Word and Sacraments.
- (iii) A Church-Related Community Worker's task is to enable the Church-in-Community to engage with community development in the neighbourhood, to reflect on and develop that work, and to develop community work goals and processes within its own life its order, outreach, worship, spirituality, theology and mission.

7. THE CONSULTATION CONFERENCE

This is an annual meeting of all the partners of all the United Reformed Church CRCW ministries in Scotland, England and Wales.

The Consultation Conference is an advisory body, accountable to its own membership. It is convened by the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee, whose accountability is to the URC General Assembly via the URC Ministries committee.

It operates on community work principles and advises on broad policy in relation to the CRCW ministry.'

Its membership will be made up of:

- all the CRCWs-in-training
- all the CRCWs-in-commission.
- representatives of all the accredited Churches-in-Community
- all members of the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee.

Normally, the meeting of the Consultation Conference includes other appropriate individuals and representatives of other appropriate groups such as the training agencies and the Churches Community Work Alliance.

It is understood that when the CRCW programme has grown so that membership of the Consultation Conference can no longer be kept below 50, a review of its membership will be undertaken.

8. WHAT THE CRCW PROGRAMME SUB-COMMITTEE WILL DO

- i) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee is a Sub-Committee of the Ministries Committee through which it will be accountable to the General Assembly through the Mission Council. It will consist of a group of about six people appointed for their management ability and understanding of Church-Related Community Work. Members will be appointed by the General Assembly Nominations Committee on behalf of the United Reformed Church.
- ii) The CRCW will work within the framework of the strategies suggested by the Consultation Conference (see above).
- iii) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee will advise on and approve CRCW ministries and make known their availability to CRCWs-in-commission and in training. It will maintain contact with situations where a CRCW post is vacant.
- iv) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee will ratify the members of the Local Management Committee on an annual basis.
- v) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee, in consultation with the Church-in-Community will ensure that an initial Support Group is in place for the first six months or thereabouts of the CRCW's ministry. Then the Programme Sub-Committee, in co-operation with the Church-in-Community and the CRCW, will replace it with a 'worker orientated' Reflection Group as an aid for theological reflection for the CRCW. The group will include experienced people sympathetic to the CRCW's own outlook. Its tasks will be to:

- a) Enable the CRCW to develop her or his own insights and to communicate them, in order to enable the Church-in-Community in turn to reflect its commitment to community work in its life, order, outreach, worship, theology and mission.
- b) If need arises, act as support and advocate for the worker.
- vii) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee Programme Sub-Committee will advise the URC Training Committee on matters pertaining to CRCW training. It will encourage CRCWs to undertake in-service training and Continuing Ministerial Education opportunities. It will provide opportunities for CRC W-in-commission, and any students who wish to take part, to meet at least twice a year.
- viii) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee will be responsible for annually reviewing projects.
- ix) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee will support individual CRCWs in their ministry and students in training and encourage the longer-term development of their ministries.
- x) The CRCW Programme Sub-Committee will advocate the CRCW ministry throughout the wider church.

9. WHAT THE CHURCH-IN-COMMUNITY WILL DO

- (ii) The Church-in-Community will, with the CRCW, seek to develop its commitment to community development in its life, order, outreach, worship, theology and mission.
- (ii) The Church-in-Community will work within the framework of strategies suggested by the Consultation Conference.
- (iii) The Church-in-Community recognises that the CRCW works in partnership with the Congregation, Elders and minister(s) of Word and Sacraments.
- (iv) The Church-in-Community understands that the relationship between the CRCW and the minister of Word and Sacraments will be non-hierarchical in character.
- (v) The Church-in-Community will make an initial 6 month report followed by annual progress reports, showing how the above aims are being fulfilled, to be made available to the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee, the CRCW and the other local partners. It will seek opportunities to further its own training in community development.
- (vi) The Church-in-Community will be responsible for the provision of the CRCW's housing and expenses, in line with the Plan for Partnership, Section J 6.3 'Financial responsibilities of the Local Church'. It will provide office accommodation including computer equipment which will more usually be based within the neighbourhood/community than within the CRCW's home.

(vii) The Church-in-Community will appoint a 'community orientated' Local Management Committee to oversee the work of the Project in the neighbourhood/community. The Committee's composition will be agreed with the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee and, in addition to members of the Church-in-Community and the CRCW, will include representation from the local community and from professionals in the community work fields. Its tasks will be to:

- a) Establish work plans in the light of the local job description, and reflect theologically on them.
- b) Ensure that the work is appropriate to local needs.
- c) Ensure that the work is based on sound community work principles.
- d) If necessary, negotiate between conflicting demands within the church and neighbourhood/community.
- e) Act as advocate for the local neighbourhood/community in the case of the CRCW leaving and not being replaced, or of the local job description being re-negotiated, or in the case of a vacancy.
- viii) The Church-in-Community will allow and encourage the CRCW-in-commission to be involved with the wider mission initiatives of the district, Synod and wider CRCW ministry (so long as this is negotiated with the Chairperson of the Local Management Committee and it does not disproportionately impinge upon the CRCW local responsibilities.)

10. WHAT THE CRCW WILL DO

- (i) The CRCW will enable the Church-in-Community to engage with community development in the neighbourhood, to reflect on and develop that work, and to develop community work goals and processes within its own life, order, outreach, worship, spirituality, theology and mission, if necessary postponing work with the wider community while preparing the church.
- (ii) The CRCW will work in partnership with the minister of Word & Sacraments, elders and congregation of the Church-in-Community.
- (iii) The CRCW agrees to the local job description.
- (iv) The CRCW will write a six-monthly report to be made available to the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee, the Church-in-Community, the Local Management Committee and the Support/Reflection Group.
- (v) The CRCW will help to promote a community development approach in the wider church by accepting occasional invitations to serve on panels and committees, to act as a community work consultant, and to speak of her or his experiences and reflections.
- (vi) The CRCW will keep up-to-date with developments regarding the CRCW ministry and fully participate with CRCW gatherings, the Consultation Conference and generally be involved with wider mission initiatives of the district, Synod and CRCW ministry. (so long as this is negotiated with the

Chairperson of the Local Management Committee and it does not disproportionately impinge upon the CRCW local responsibilities.)

11. WHAT THE DISTRICT OR AREA COUNCIL WILL DO

- (i) District or Area Council will be required to be fully involved with the calling, commissioning and pastoral support of a CRCW and to ensure that the requirements of the Plan for Partnership for Ministerial Remuneration will be met by the Church-in-Community. The Terms of Settlement Agreement should be negotiated with the CRCW at the earliest possible opportunity, seeking advice from the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee if necessary.
- (ii) The District or Area Council will determine the appropriate Housing Allowance amount for the CRCW using the categories in the Plan for Partnership, (as for a minister of Word & Sacraments) and negotiate and agree these with the CRCW. The District Secretary will inform the Finance & Personnel Offices at Church House so that the CRCW stipend and Housing Allowance can be paid.
- (iii) The District or Area Council will ensure that the CRCW is a member of the District or Area Council and of the Synod.
- (iv) The District or Area Council will be involved with the initial familiarisation programme for the CRCW, to include ensuring that the CRCW is fully aware of Continuing Ministerial Education opportunities.

(v) The District or Area Council will be asked to appoint two or three people

with a knowledge of community work to undertake the 4-Year Review of the

work and to submit this report to the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee upon

completion.

(vi) As a guide, district or area councils should demonstrate the same effective

duties of care, oversight and responsibility for a CRCW as they would for a

minister of Word & Sacraments.

12. WHAT THE SYNOD WILL DO:

(i) Synod will ensure that District or Area Council fulfills all its responsibilities

listed above and that the same effective duties of care, oversight and

responsibility are exercised for a CRCW as they would be for a minister of Word

& Sacraments.

Signature Date

Name

(The Church-Related Community Worker)

Signature Date

Name

(For the Church-in-Community)

Signature Date

name
(For the CRCW Programme Sub-Committee)
Signature Date
Name
(For the District or Area Council)
Signature Date
Name
(For the Synod)

Appendix I – The Faithworks Charter

Faithworks described the reasons for creating their charter as follows:

"Faithworks has put together a charter of excellence to which churches and community projects can aspire as they engage in community action. Drawn up by a team of professional practitioners including church leaders, lawyers and policy makers, the Charter provides a 'benchmark' of excellence and professionalism for local churches, Christian agencies and projects to work towards in their community work.

As thousands of churches of all denominations and Christian community projects work to meet the needs of their communities, it is important that they do so in a professional manner. The Faithworks Charter can help churches deliver a standard of excellence in serving others and demonstrate to the Government and public that they can be taken seriously as local service providers.

By signing the Faithworks Charter, projects are committing themselves to working towards the standards set out within it. Churches and projects that sign the Charter will also be building a mandate of change for projects to be professional in their approach and for Government to recognise the invaluable contribution they make. ... Faithworks affiliates are asked to sign the charter as a pre-requisite for affiliation.

The Faithworks Charter

Principles for Churches and local Christian agencies committed to excellence in
community work and service provision in the UK
Motivated by our Christian faith we
commit ourselves to the following standards as we serve others in our
community work and seek to model trust.
Signed Date
Position
We will provide an inclusive service to our community by:
 Serving and respecting all people regardless of their gender, marital status,
race, ethnic origin, religion, age, sexual orientation or physical and mental
capability.
2. Acknowledging the freedom of people of all faiths or none both to hold and
to express their beliefs and convictions respectfully and freely, within the
limits of the UK law.
3. Never imposing our Christian faith or belief on others.

4. Developing partnerships with other churches, voluntary groups, statutory

agencies and local government wherever appropriate in order to create an

effective, integrated service for our clients avoiding unnecessary duplication of resources.

5. Providing and publicising regular consultation and reporting forums to client groups and the wider community regarding the effective development and delivery of our work and our responsiveness to their actual needs.

We will value all individuals in a way that is consistent with our distinctive Christian ethos by:

- 1. Creating an environment where clients, volunteers and employees are encouraged and enabled to realise their potential.
- 2. Assisting our clients, volunteers and employees to take responsibility for their own learning and development, both through formal and informal training opportunities and ongoing assessment.
- 3. Developing an organisational culture in which individuals learn from any mistakes made and where excellence and innovation are encouraged and rewarded.
- 4. Promoting the value of a balanced, holistic lifestyle as part of each individual's overall personal development.
- 5. Abiding by the requirements of employment law in the UK and implementing best employment practices and procedures designed to maintain our distinctive ethos and values.

We will develop a professional approach to management, practice and funding

by:

1. Implementing a management structure, which fosters and encourages

participation by staff at all levels in order to facilitate the fulfilment of the

project's goals and visions.

2. Setting and reviewing measurable and timed outcomes annually, and

regularly to evaluate and monitor our management structure and output,

recognising the need for ongoing organisational flexibility, development and

good stewardship of resources.

3. Doing all we can to ensure that we are not over-dependent on any one

source of funding.

4. Implementing best practice procedures in terms of Health and Safety and

Child Protection in order to protect our staff, volunteers and clients.

5. Handling our funding in a transparent and accountable way and to give

relevant people from outside our organisation/project reasonable access to our

accounts."

Downloaded from: http://www.faithworks.info/SubSection.asp?id=2625 , 12th

August 2005.

Page 578

10 Steps to Implementing and Using the Faithworks Charter

- "1. As a church-project leadership team, measure the standard of the services you deliver to your community against the Faithworks Charter.
- 2. Commit to implementing the Charter over the coming year throughout all aspects of your community work.
- 3. Develop a realistic timetable to deal with any issues the Charter raises for the delivery of your community work.
- 4. By signing the Charter, your church/project is helping Faithworks to build a mandate of change for projects to be professional and for the Government and media to recognise the invaluable contribution of these projects.
- 5. Keep another copy of the Charter as a working document.
- 6. Use the Charter as part of your application to any statutory, trust and other potential funders to demonstrate both the professionalism and ethos of your work.
- 7. Get other churches/Christian projects in your town to adopt the Faithworks Charter.
- 8. Annually evaluate your community work against the Charter.

- 9. Become a Faithworks affiliated church/project and access free resources to help your project succeed in implementing the charter. Visit www.faithworks.info/affiliation to join.
- 10. Contact Faithworks for any further help or support you need."

Downloaded from: http://www.faithworks.info/Standard.asp?id=2626 , 12th August 2005.

References

- ACAS (2005) Religion or Belief and the Workplace: A Guide for Employers and Employees, London: ACAS.
- Active Faith Communities (2007) "Active Faith Communities: History",
 retrieved 29th September 2007, from <
 http://www.activefaiths.org.uk/about/history/ >.
- Active Faith Communities Programme (2005) <u>Introducing the Active Faith</u>

 <u>Communities Programme</u>, Bradford: Active Faith Communities Programme.
- Adirondack, S. (2006) <u>Just About Managing</u>, London: London Voluntary Service Council.
- Ahmed, R., Finneron, D. and Singh, H. (2004) <u>Tools for Regeneration: A Holistic Approach for Faith Communities</u>, London: The Faith-Based Regeneration Network UK.
- Ahmed, S., Banks, S. and Duce, C. (2007) Walking Alongside Young People:

 Challenges and Opportunities for Faith Communities, Durham:

 Community and Youth Work Studies Unit, Durham University /

 Churches' Regional Commission in the North East.
- Alinsky, S. (1971) Rules for Radicals, New York: Random House.
- Appleby, R. S. (2003) 'Retrieving the Missing Dimension of Statecraft: Religious Faith in the Service of Peacebuilding', in Johnston, D. (Ed.)

- <u>Faith-Based Diplomacy: Trumping Real-Politik, Oxford: Oxford</u>
 University Press, pp. 231-258.
- Archbishops' Commission on Rural Areas (1990) Faith in the Countryside,

 Stoneleigh Park, Warwickshire: ACORA Publishing.
- Argyris, C. and Schön, D. A. (1978) <u>Organizational Learning: A Theory of Action Perspective</u>, London: Addison-Wesley.
- Ashdown, J. (2004) <u>Theological Models for Churches' Community</u>
 Involvement, London: Barnardo's CANDL Project.
- Ashdown, J. (2005) "The Church as a Grass-roots Urban Institution towards reconciling conservative and radical approaches to urban mission", retrieved 29/12/05, from < http://www.culf.org/papers/grassroots.pdf >.
- Audit Commission (1998) <u>A Fruitful Partnership</u>, London: The Audit Commission.
- Audit Commission (2000) <u>Aiming to Improve: The Principles of Performance</u>

 <u>Management</u>, London: Audit Commission.
- Audit Commission (2001) <u>Joining Up to Improve Public Services</u>, London: Audit Commission.
- Bacon, D., Groves, K., et al (2004) <u>Acting in Good Faith: Churches, Change</u>
 and Regeneration, Belfast: Churches Community Work Alliance.

- Baker, C. (2003) <u>Regenerating Communities: A Theological and Strategic</u>

 <u>Critique, 2002-5 (First Year Synopsis)</u>, Manchester: William Temple
 Foundation.
- Baker, C. (2005) "Going with the Flow? Can Christian Faith Communities in the UK Flourish in Non-Institutional Civil Society?" <u>Political Theology</u>, 6(1): 107-125.
- Baker, C. (2007a) Religious Literacy, Faithful Capital and Language,

 Economic and Social Research Council Faith and Civil Society'

 Seminar Paper, Anglia Ruskin University, Cambridge, 23rd January

 2007.
- Baker, C. and Skinner, H. (2005a) <u>Faith in Action: The Dynamic Connection</u>

 <u>Between Spiritual and Religious Capital</u>, Manchester: William Temple

 Foundation.
- Baker, C. and Skinner, H. (2005b) <u>Telling the Stories: How the churches are</u>

 <u>contributing towards social capital</u>, Manchester: William Temple

 Foundation.
- Baker, C. and Skinner, H. (2006) <u>Faith in Action: The Dynamic Connection</u>

 <u>Between Spiritual and Religious Capital</u>, Manchester: William Temple

 Foundation.
- Baker, C. R. (2007b) <u>The Hybrid Church in the City: Third Space Thinking</u>, Aldershot: Ashgate.

- Banks, S. (2003a) 'The Concept of Community Practice', in Banks, S.,

 Butcher, H., Henderson, P. and Robertson, J. (Ed.) <u>Managing</u>

 <u>Community Practice: Principles, policies and programmes</u>, Bristol:

 The Policy Press, pp. 9-22.
- Banks, S. (2003b) Conflicts of Culture and Accountability: Managing Ethical Dilemmas and Problems in Community Practice, in Banks, S., Butcher, H., Henderson, P. and Robertson, J. (Ed.) <u>Managing Community Practice: Principles, Policies and Programmes</u>, Bristol: The Policy Press, pp. 103-120.
- Banks, S. (2004) <u>Ethics, Accountability and the Social Professions</u>,

 Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Banks, S. (2006) <u>Ethics and Values in Social Work (3rd Edition)</u>, Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Banks, S. and Orton, A. (2007) "The grit in the oyster': Community development workers in a modernizing local authority." <u>Community Development Journal</u>, 42(1): 97-113.
- Barnes SJ, M. (2002) <u>Theology and the Dialogue of Religions</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bauman, Z. (2000) Liquid Modernity, Cambridge: Polity.
- Bayes, P. (2004) <u>Mission-Shaped Church</u>: <u>Missionary Values, Church Planting</u>
 and Fresh Expressions of Church, Cambridge: Grove.

- Beaumont, J. (2004) 'Workfare, associationism and the "underclass" in the United States: contrasting faith-based action on urban poverty in a liberal welfare regime', in Noordegraaf, H. and Rainer, V. (Ed.)

 <u>European Churches Confronting Poverty: Social Actions Against Social</u>

 Exclusion, Bochum: SWI Press, pp. 249-278.
- Beck, U. (1992) Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity, London: Sage.
- Beckford, J. A., Gale, R., et al (2006) <u>Review of the Evidence Base on Faith</u>

 <u>Communities</u>, London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.
- Bennett, J. C. (1983) 'Church and State in the United States', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.) <u>Reformed Faith and Politics</u>, Washington DC: University Press of America, pp. 121-140.
- Berger, P. (1967) The Sacred Canopy: Elements of a Sociological Theory of Religion, New York: Doubleday.
- Berger, P. (1969) <u>The Sacred Canopy: Elements of a Sociological Theory of Religion</u>, New York: Garden City.
- Bladon, K. (1998) "The Gracious Gift'; Church of England Finances and Resources', in Hannaford, R. (Ed.) A Church for the 21st Century, Leominster: Gracewing, pp. 37-79.
- Blake-Lobb, R. (2006) <u>The Relationships Between Salaried Church-Based</u>

 <u>Youth Workers and Other Agencies in Sheffield</u>, MA Research

 Dissertation, Durham University.

- Bloor, M. (1997) 'Addressing Social Problems through Qualitative Research', in Silverman, D. (Ed.) Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice, London: Sage, pp. 221-238.
- Bordieu, P. (1983) 'Forms of Capital', in Richards, J. C. (Ed.) <u>Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education</u>, New York:

 Greenwood Press, pp. 241-258.
- Breen, M. (1993) <u>Outside In: Reaching Un-Churched Young People Today</u>,

 London: Scripture Union.
- Bretherton, L. (2006) "A New Establishment? Theological Politics and the Emerging Shape of Church-State Relations." <u>Political Theology</u>, 7(3): 371-392.
- Brierley, P. (2000) The Tide is Running Out, London: Christian Research.
- British Sociological Association (2002) "Statement of Ethical Practice for the British Sociological Association", retrieved 30th September 2007, from http://www.britsoc.co.uk/equality/Statement+Ethical+Practice.htm >.
- Brown, G. (2007) "Statement on National Security", retrieved 11th December 2007, from < http://www.number-10.gov.uk/output/Page13757.asp >.
- Bruce, S. (2003) Politics and Religion, Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Brunn, S. and Leinback, T. (1991) <u>Collapsing Space and Time: Geographic</u>

 <u>Aspects of Communications and Information</u>, London: Harper-Collins.
- Bryman, A. (1988) Quantity and Quality in Social Research, London: Routledge.
- Bryman, A. (2001) Social Research Methods, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bunting, M. (2007) "Retreat on Adoption and the Equality Act Will Crumble",

 Guardian Unlimited (25th January 2007), retrieved 14th December

 2007, from <
 http://www.guardian.co.uk/Columnists/Column/0,1997859,00.html
 >.
- Cameron, H., Richter, P., et al (Ed.) (2005) <u>Studying Local Churches: A Handbook</u>, London: SCM Press.
- Cann, S. (2002) <u>A Living Wage Church?</u> Manchester: Church Action on Poverty.
- Cantle, T. (2001) <u>Community Cohesion: A Report of the Independent Review</u>

 <u>Team</u>, London: Home Office.
- Cantle, T. (2005) <u>Community Cohesion: A New Framework for Race and Diversity</u>, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Carlson-Thies, S. W. (2006) <u>Bringing Religion Back In: Using Public Policy to</u>

 <u>Promote Faith-Based Action Against Urban Poverty</u>, *Faith-Based Organisations and Poverty in the City*, Antwerp, December 2006.

- Castells, M. (1996) The Rise of the Network Society, Oxford: Blackwell.
- CCWA (2003) "The National Occupational Standards in Community

 Development Work", Churches Community Work Alliance Focus,

 Spring/Summer 2003, retrieved 29/12/05, from <
 http://www.ccwa.org.uk/ccwa/pdf/focus_spring_2003.pdf >.
- Chalke, S. and Mann, A. (2003) <u>Redeeming the Cross</u>, Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan.
- Charity Commission (2000) "Users on Board: Beneficiaries who become trustees (CC24)", retrieved 4/12/06, from < http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk/Library/publications/pdfs/cc24text.pdf>.
- Choudhury, T. (2007) "The Role of Muslim Identity Politics in Radicalisation (a study in progress)", retrieved 1st December 2007, from < http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/communities/pdf/4526
 28 >.
- Church Army (2006) "Purpose, Values and Vision", retrieved 27th November 2006, from <
 http://www.churcharmy.org.uk/ChurchArmy/web/site/ChurchArmy/
 AboutUs/PurposeValuesAndVision.asp >.
- Church of England (2000) Common Worship: Services and Prayers for the Church of England, London: Church House Publishing.
- Church of England (2002) <u>New Patterns for Worship</u>, London: Church House Publishing.

- Church of England Archbishop's Commission on Urban Priority Areas (1985)

 Faith in the city: a call for action by Church and nation: the report of the Archbishop of Canterbury's Commission on Urban Priority Areas,

 London: Church House Publishing.
- Church of England Church Heritage Forum (2004) <u>Building Faith in Our Future</u>, London: Church House Publishing.
- Church of England Public and Mission Affairs Council (2004) Mission-Shaped

 Church: Church Planting and Fresh Expressions of Church in a

 Changing Context, London: Church House Publishing.
- Church Urban Fund (2006) "Churches Community Value Toolkit for Church of England Parishes", retrieved 21st June, from < http://www.cuf.org.uk/images/users/5/ChurchesCommunityValueTo olkit.pdf >.
- Church Urban Fund (2007a) "A Bit of Our History", retrieved 21st June 2007, from < http://www.cuf.org.uk/default.asp?id=83 >.
- Church Urban Fund (2007b) "A Snapshot of the History of the Church Urban Fund", retrieved 21st June 2007, from < http://www.cuf.org.uk/default.asp?id=107>.
- Churches Regional Commission for Yorkshire and the Humber (2002) Angels and Advocates: Church Social Action in Yorkshire and the Humber, Leeds: Churches Regional Commission for Yorkshire and the Humber.

- Churches Regional Commission for Yorkshire and the Humber (2003) <u>Sowing</u>

 the Seed: Church and Rural Renaissance in Yorkshire and the Humber,

 Leeds: Churches Regional Commission for Yorkshire and the Humber.
- Clarke, G. (2005) <u>Faith Matters: Development and the Complex World of Faith-Based Organisations</u>, Annual Conference of the Development Studies Association, The Open University, Milton Keynes,7th-9th September, 2005.
- Clarke, T. (2001) <u>Burnley Speaks: Who Listens?</u> Burnley: Burnley Borough Council.
- Cohen, S. (1987) <u>Folk Devils and Moral Panics: The Creation of the Mods and Rockers</u>, Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Coleman, J. C. (1994) <u>Foundations of Social Theory</u>, Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Coleman, S. (2002) "But Are They Really Christian?" Contesting Knowledge and Identity in and out of the Field', in Spickard, J. V., Landres, J. S. and McGuire, M. B. (Ed.) Personal Knowledge and Beyond: Reshaping the Ethnography of Religion, New York: New York University Press, pp. 283.
- Commission on Integration and Cohesion (2007) <u>Our Shared Future</u>,

 Wetherby: Communities and Local Government Publications.
- Commission on Urban Life and Faith (2005) "Recent Surveys/Mapping Exercises Undertaken Across the English Regions to Measure the

- Contribution of Faith Groups to Social Action and Culture",

 <u>Commission on Urban Life and Faith Research Papers</u>, retrieved

 30/12/05, from < http://www.culf.org/papers/regionalreports.pdf >.
- Commission on Urban Life and Faith (2006) <u>Faithful Cities: A Call for Celebration</u>, <u>Vision and Justice</u>, Peterborough / London: Methodist Publishing House / Church House Publishing.
- Community Development Exchange, Churches Community Work Alliance and Faith-Based Regeneration Network UK (2005) Faith in Community Development, Sheffield/Durham/London: CDX, CCWA, FbRN.
- Conradson, D. (2006) "Values, Practices and Strategic Divestment: Christian Social Services in Contemporary New Zealand, in Milligan, C. and Conradson, D. (Ed.) <u>Landscapes of Voluntarism: New Spaces of Health, Welfare and Governance</u>, Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 153-172.
- Craig, G. and Taylor, M. (2002) 'Dangerous Liaisons: Local Government and the Community and Voluntary Sectors', in Glendinning, C., Powell, M. and Rummery, K. (Ed.) <u>Partnerships</u>, <u>New Labour</u>, and the <u>Governance of Social Welfare</u>, Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Cray, G. (1998) <u>Postmodern Culture and Youth Discipleship: Commitment or Looking Cool</u>, Cambridge: Grove.
- Cray, G. (2002) Youth Congregations and the Emerging Church, Cambridge:

 Grove.

- Crockett, A. and Voas, D. (2006) "Generations of Decline: Religious Change in 20th Century Britain." <u>Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion</u>, 45(4): 567-584.
- Crouch, C. (2000) The Quiet Continent: Religion and Politics in Europe', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 90-103.
- Daly, L. C. (2001) A Church At Risk? The Episcopal "Renewal Movement",

 Institute for Democratic Studies Insights. New York. 2: Issue 2.
- Damm, F. (2007) Working With People From Different Faith Traditions:

 Report on the Workshops, Ushaw Moor, Durham: Churches' Regional

 Commission in the North East.
- Davie, G. (1994) <u>Religion in Britain Since 1945: Believing Without Belonging</u>,
 Oxford: Blackwell.
- Dawkins, R. (2007) The God Delusion, Boston: Mariner Books.
- Dawson, A. (1999a) 'The Origins and Character of the Base Ecclesial

 Community: A Brazilian Perspective', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) The

 Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology, Cambridge: Cambridge

 University Press, pp. 109-128.
- Dawson, M. C. (1999b) 'Globalization, the Racial Divide, and a New Citizenship', in Torres, R. D., Miron, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) Race, Identity, and Citizenship: A Reader, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 373-385.

- Day, A. (2006) 'And the Power and the Glory be Thy (or My Best Mate's)

 Name: Exploring God-Belief in Late Modernity', 'God Talk In

 Sociology and Theology' Conference, Heythrop College, Kensington

 Square, London, 18th November 2006.
- Deakin, B. (1998) 'Social Policy in a Shrinking World', in Alcock, P., Erskine,

 A. and May, M. (Ed.) <u>The Student's Companion to Social Policy</u>,

 Oxford: Blackwell / Social Policy Association, pp. 128-135.
- Denham, J. (2001) <u>Building Cohesive Communities: A Report of the Ministerial Group on Public Order and Community Cohesion</u>, London: Home Office.
- Denscombe, M. (1998) <u>The Good Research Guide For Small-Scale Social</u>

 Research Projects, Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Denzin, N. K. (1997) <u>Interpretive Ethnography: Ethnographic Practices for the 21st Century</u>, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y., S. (2000) Introduction: The Discipline and Practice of Qualitative Research, in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y., S. (Ed.) <u>Handbook of Qualitative Research</u>, London: Sage.
- Department for Communities and Local Government (2007) "Faith Communities Consultative Council", retrieved 6th July, from < http://www.communities.gov.uk/index.asp?id=1504813 >.
- Department of Environment (1995) Partners In Regeneration. London,

 Department of Environment.

- Donovan, V. J. (2003) Christianity Rediscovered, New York: Orbis.
- Douglas, J. D. (1983) 'Church and State: A Brief Introduction for Contemporary Presbyterians', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.) <u>Reformed Faith</u> and <u>Politics</u>, Washington DC: University Press of America, pp. 93-100.
- Dower, N. and Williams, J. (Ed.) (2002) <u>Global Citizenship: A Critical</u>

 <u>Reader</u>, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Drane, J. (2000) <u>The McDonaldization of the Church: Spirituality, Creativity</u> and the Future of the Church, London: Darton, Longman and Todd.
- Durkheim, E. (1915) <u>The Elementary Forms of Religious Life</u>, London: Allen and Unwin.
- Eastman, M. (Ed.) (1988) <u>Ten Inner City Churches</u>, Eastbourne, Surrey: MARC Kingsway.
- Edwards, D. L. (2002) <u>The Church That Could Be</u>, London: Society for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge.
- Ellis, J. W. (1990) 'Informal Education A Christian Perspective', in Jeffs, T. and Smith, M. (Ed.) <u>Using Informal Education</u>, Buckingham: Open University Press, pp. 89-99.
- Embree, A. (2003) 'Kashmir: Has Religion a Role in Making Peace?' in Johnston, D. (Ed.) <u>Faith-Based Diplomacy: Trumping Real-Politik</u>, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 33-75.
- Erskine, C. (2003) The Concentric Church, London: The Shaftesbury Society.

- Erskine, C. and Hoey, S. (2003) <u>Living Parables</u>, London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- Escott, P. and Logan, P. (2006) <u>Faith in LSPs? The Experience of Faith</u>

 <u>Community Representatives on Local Strategic Partnerships</u>, London:

 Churches Regional Network / Churches Together in England.
- Evangelical Alliance (2004) <u>United We Stand: Building Trust</u>, London: Evangelical Alliance.
- Evans, D. and Fearon, M. (1998) <u>From Strangers to Neighbours</u>, London: Hodder and Stoughton.
- Faithworks (2005) "The Faithworks Charter", retrieved 12th August 2005, from < http://www.faithworks.info/SubSection.asp?id=2625 >.
- Farnell, R. (2001) "Faith Communities, Regeneration and Social Exclusion:

 Developing a Research Agenda." <u>Community Development Journal</u>,

 36(4): 263-272.
- Farnell, R., Furbey, R., et al (2003) <u>'Faith' in urban regeneration?</u> <u>Engaging</u> <u>faith communities in urban regeneration</u>, Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Farnell, R., Hopkinson, J., et al (2006) <u>Faith in Rural Communities:</u>

 <u>Contributions of Social Capital to Community Vibrancy</u>, Stoneleigh

 Park, Warwickshire: ACORA Publishing.
- Fielding, N. (1993a) 'Ethnography', in Gilbert, N. (Ed.) Researching Social

 Life, London: Sage, pp. 154-171.

- Fielding, N. (1993b) 'Qualitative Interviewing', in Gilbert, N. (Ed.)

 Researching Social Life, London: Sage, pp. 135-153.
- Finneron, D., Green, L., et al (2001) <u>Challenging Communities: Church Related Community Development and Neighbourhood Renewal,</u>

 Durham / London: Churches Community Work Alliance / Church Urban Fund.
- Francis, L. J. (1998) Education and Schooling, in Hannaford, R. (Ed.) A

 Church for the 21st Century, Leominster: Gracewing, pp. 201-239.
- R. and Lewis, P. (Ed.) The Sociology of the Professions: Lawyers,

 Doctors and Others, Basingstoke: Macmillan, pp. 19-37.
- Freire, P. (1972) Pedagogy of the Oppressed, London: Penguin.
- Fresh Expressions and Church Army (2007) "What is a Fresh Expression of Church?" Share: A Guide to Fresh Expressions of Church, retrieved 12th December 2007, from < http://www.sharetheguide.org/section1/1 >.
- Furbey, R., Dinham, A., et al (2006) <u>Faith as Social Capital: Connecting or Dividing?</u> Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Furbey, R. and Macey, M. (2005) "Religion and Urban Regeneration: A Place for Faith?" Policy and Politics, 33(1): 95-116.
- Gaarder, J. (1997) Sophie's World, London: Dolphin.

- Geertz, C. (1999) 'Religion as a Cultural System', in Frankenberry, N. K. and Penner, H. H. (Ed.) <u>Language</u>, <u>Truth and Religious Belief</u>; <u>Studies in Twentieth-Century Theory and Method in Religion</u>, Atlanta, Georgia: Scholars Press, pp. 176-215.
- George, V. and Miller, S. (1994) 'Squaring the Welfare Circle', in George, J. and Miller, S. (Ed.) Social Policy Towards 2000, London: Routledge.
- Giddens, A. (1993) Sociology, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Gilchrist, A. (2003) "Community Development in the UK: Possibilities and Paradoxes." Community Development Journal, 38(1): 16-25.
- Gilchrist, R. and Jeffs, T. (Ed.) (2001) <u>Settlements, Social Change and Community Action: Good Neighbours</u>, London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Gilchrist, R., Jeffs, T. and Spence, J. (Ed.) (2001) <u>Essays in the History of Community and Youth Work</u>, Leicester: Youth Work Press.
- Gilchrist, R., Jeffs, T. and Spence, J. (Ed.) (2003) <u>Architects of Change:</u>

 <u>Studies in the History of Community and Youth Work,</u> Leicester:

 Youth Work Press.
- Gill, R. (1998) 'Sexual Ethics', in Hannaford, R. (Ed.) <u>A Church for the 21st</u>

 <u>Century</u>, Leominster: Gracewing, pp. 329-349.
- Gilliat-Ray, S. (2003) "Ministerial Formation in a Multi-Faith Society."

 <u>Teaching Theology and Religion</u>, 6(1): 9-17.

- Glendinning, C., Powell, M. and Rummery, K. (Ed.) (2002) Partnerships, New Labour and the Governance of Social Welfare, Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Gramsci, A. (1971) <u>Selections from the Prison Notebooks</u>, London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Gramsci, A. (1975) Letters from Prison, London: Jonathan Cape.
- Gramsci, A. (1977) <u>Selections from Political Writings 1910-1920 (Edited by Q. Hoare)</u>, London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Gramsci, A. (1978) <u>Selections from Political Writings 1921-1926 (edited by Q. Hoare)</u>, London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Green, J. B. and Baker, M. D. (2000) <u>Recovering the Scandal of the Cross:</u>

 <u>Atonement in New Testament and Contemporary Contexts,</u>

 Nottingham: Inter-Varsity Press.
- Greene, B. (2000) <u>The Elegant Universe: Superstrings, Hidden Dimensions,</u> and the Quest for the Ultimate Theory, London: Vintage.
- Grey, M. (1999) 'Feminist Theology: A Critical Theology of Liberation', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) <u>The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 89-106.
- Griffiths, P. J. (2001) Problems of Religious Diversity, Oxford: Blackwell.

- Grills, N. (2006a) <u>Believing in HIV: The Response of Christian Faith-Based</u>

 <u>Organisations to HIV in India</u>, Oxford: Oxford University Department of Public Health / CDC-India / WHO-HIV Dept.
- Grills, N. (2006b) <u>Multilateral Schizophrenia</u>: <u>How do the conflicting motivations of multilateral organisations result in a 'schizophrenia' when engaging with faith and Faith Based Organisations (FBOs)?</u> Draft paper, Oxford University.
- Grotius, H. (1988) <u>Meletius Sive de lis Quae Inter Christianos Conveniunt</u>

 <u>Epistola</u>, Leiden: E. J. Brill.
- Guillaumin, C. (1999) "I Know it's Not Nice, But." The Changing Face of "Race", in Torres, R. D., Mirón, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) Race, Identity and Citizenship: A Reader, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 39-46.
- Gunnell, B. (2004) "Religion: Why Do We Still Give a Damn?" New Statesman, 3rd May 2004, < http://www.newstatesman.com/200405030015 >.
- Gutierrez, G. (1999) The Task and Content of Liberation Theology', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) <u>The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 19-38.
- Hannaford, R. (1998a) 'Anglicanism and the Theology of Culture', in Hannaford, R. (Ed.) <u>A Church for the 21st Century</u>, Leominster: Gracewing, pp. 292-328.
- Hannaford, R. (Ed.) (1998b) <u>A Church for the 21st Century</u>, Leominster, Herefordshire: Gracewing.

- Harré, R. (1988) Social Being, Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Harris, M. (1998) Organizing God's Work: Challenges for Churches and Synagogues, Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Harris, M. and Torry, M. (2000) <u>Managing Religious and Faith-Based</u>

 <u>Organisations</u>, Birmingham: Aston Business School Research Institute.
- Hart, T. A. (1995) Faith Thinking: The Dynamics of Christian Theology, London: SPCK.
- Hasler, J. (2006) <u>Crying Out for a Polycentric Church</u>, Maidstone, Kent: Church in Society.
- Haynes, J. (1998) Religion in Global Politics, Harlow, Essex: Longman.
- Hebblethwaite, P. (1999) 'Liberation Theology and the Roman Catholic Church', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) <u>The Cambridge Companion to Liberation</u>

 <u>Theology</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 179-198.
- Hirst, P. (2000) 'J. N. Figgis, Churches and the State', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 104-120.
- Home Office (2004) "Core Values", retrieved 4th November 2004, from < http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/comrace/faith/community/index.ht ml >.
- Home Office Faith Communities Unit (2004) Working Together: Co-operation between Government and Faith Communities, Recommendations of

- the Steering Group reviewing patterns of engagement between Government and Faith Communities in England, London: Home Office.
- Hornsby-Smith, M. (1993) 'Gaining Access', in Gilbert, N. (Ed.) Researching Social Life, London: Sage, pp. 52-67.
- Hughes, D. A. and Bennett, M. (1998) <u>God of the Poor: A Biblical Vision of</u>
 God's Present Rule, Carlisle, Cumbria: OM Publishing.
- Humphreys, J. (2005) Faith-Based Community Work: Report from seminars

 held in London and Durham, London and Durham, May 2005,

 Community Development Exchange, Churches Community Work

 Alliance, Faith-Based Regeneration Network UK.
- Humphries, B. (1996) <u>Critical Perspectives on Empowerment</u>, Birmingham: Venture Press.
- Huntingdon, S. (1996) The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World

 Order, York: Simon & Schuster.
- Illich, I., Zola, I. K., et al (Ed.) (1977) <u>Disabling Professions</u>, London: Marion Boyars.
- Inter Faith Consultative Group (2005) "Presence and Engagement", retrieved

 12th December 2007, from <
 http://www.cofe.anglican.org/info/interfaith/presence.pdf >.
- Jackson, M. and Kimberlee, R. (2004) <u>Daily Service: How faith communities</u>

 <u>contribute to neighbourhood renewal and regeneration in the South</u>

- West of England (Final Report to the Government Office for the South West and The South West Council of Faiths), Bristol: Government Office for the South West and University of the West of England.
- Jeffs, T. and Smith, M. K. (1990) 'Educating Informal Educators', in Jeffs, T. and Smith, M. K. (Ed.) <u>Using Informal Education</u>, Buckingham: Open University Press, pp. 124 143.
- Jeffs, T. and Smith, M. K. (1996) <u>Informal Education</u>: Conversation, <u>Democracy and Learning</u>, Ticknall: Education Now.
- Johnston, D. (Ed.) (2003) <u>Faith-Based Diplomacy: Trumping Realpolitik</u>,
 Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Johnston, D. and Cox, B. (2003) 'Faith-Based Diplomacy and Preventative Engagement', in Johnston, D. (Ed.) <u>Faith-Based Diplomacy: Trumping Real-Politik</u>, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 11-29.
- Jupp, B. (1997) The Persistence of Faiths', in Mulgan, G. and Jupp, B. (Ed.)

 Keeping the Faiths: The New Covenant Between Religious Belief and

 Secular Power, London: Demos, pp. 1-8.
- Keane, J. (2000) 'Secularism?' in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.)

 Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 145 p.
- Kitchener, M., Kirkpatrick, I. and Whipp, R. (2000) "Supervising Professional Work Under New Public Management: Evidence from an Invisible Trade." British Journal of Management, 11: 213-226.

- Knights, C. (2006) "Urban Regeneration: A Christian Perspective from the West End of Newcastle-Upon-Tyne", retrieved 11 June, from < http://www.church-poverty.org.uk/resources/reflection/urban-regeneration >.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984) Experiential Learning, Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Kuhrt, J. (2004a) Integrated Faith, London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- Kuhrt, J. (2004b) 'Personal and Social The Challenge of a Holistic View of Sin', 'Sarum College Global Structural Injustice' Conference, The Shaftesbury Society, July 2004.
- Landres, J. S. (2002) 'Being (in) the Field: Defining Ethnography in Southern California and Central Slovakia', in Spickard, J. V., Landres, J. S. and McGuire, M. B. (Ed.) Personal Knowledge and Beyond: Re-Shaping the Ethnography of Religion, New York: New York University Press, pp. 100-112.
- Lawrence, T. (2004) Being Here: How the Church is Engaging with the Communities of Brighton and Hove, Brighton: Engage.
- Layder, D. (1993) New Strategies in Social Research, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Lewis, G. (2003) "Difference and Social Policy, in Ellison, N. and Pierson, C. (Ed.) <u>Developments in British Social Policy 2</u>, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Lings, G. (2003) "What is 'Emerging Church'?" retrieved 12th December 2007,

 from

 http://www.emergingchurch.info/reflection/georgelings/index.htm
 >.
- Local Government Association (2002) <u>Faith and Community: A Good Practice</u>

 <u>Guide for Local Authorities</u>, London: Local Government Association.
- Locke, M. and Lukka, P. (2003) <u>Faith and Voluntary Action: Community.</u>

 <u>Values and Resources</u>, London: Institute for Volunteering Research.
- London Assembly's Economic Development Committee (2002) Rebuilding

 London's Future, London: London Assembly.
- London to Edinburgh Weekend Return Group (1980) In and Against the State,

 London: Pluto Press.
- Lovell, G. (2007) "T. R.(Reg) Batten and Madge Batten: their worldwide contributions to the non-directive approach to community development", The Encyclopedia of Informal Education, retrieved 4th January 2008, from < http://www.infed.org/thinkers/batten.htm >.
- Lowndes, V. and Chapman, R. (2005) <u>Faith, hope and clarity: Developing a model of faith group involvement in civil renewal</u>, Leicester: Local Governance Research Unit, De Montfort University.
- Luft, J. and Ingram, H. (1955) <u>The Johari Window: A Graphic Model of</u>
 Interpersonal Awareness, Los Angeles: UCLA Extension Office.

- Macpherson, W. (1999) "The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry: Report of an Inquiry by Sir William Macpherson of Cluny", retrieved 21 April 2006, from < http://www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm42/4262/sli-00.htm >.
- Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (2000) Foreword, in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 145 p.
- Marsden, G. (1983) 'Understanding Fundamentalist Views of Society', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.) 'Reformed Faith and Politics, Washington DC: University Press of America, pp. 65-76.
- May, T. (2001) <u>Social Research: Issues, Methods and Process</u>, Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Mayo, M. and Taylor, M. (2001) 'Partnerships and Power in Community Regeneration', in Balloch, S. and Taylor, M. (Ed.) <u>Partnership</u>

 <u>Working: Policy and Practice</u>, Bristol: The Policy Press.
- McGuire, M. B. (1992) Religion: The Social Context, Belmont, California: Wadsworth.
- McNiff, J. and Whitehead, J. (2002) <u>Action Research: Principles and Practice</u>, Abingdon, Oxon: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Middlemass, M. (2006) 'The Anglican Church as an Agent of Welfare the case of Darlington', in Yeung, A. B., Beckman, N. E. and Pettersson, P. (Ed.)

 Churches in Europe as Agents of Welfare England, Germany, France,

- <u>Italy and Greece</u>, Uppsala: Uppsala Institute for Diaconal and Social Studies, pp. 1-55.
- Midwinter, E. (1994) <u>The Development of Social Welfare in Britain</u>, Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Miles, R. and Torres, R. D. (1999) 'Does "Race" Matter? Transatlantic Perspectives on Racism after "Race Relations", in Torres, R. D., Miron, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) Race, Identity and Citizenship: A Reader, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 19-38.
- Millbank, J. (1990) <u>Theology and Social Theory: Beyond Secular Reason,</u>
 Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Miller, D. (1995) 'Consumption as the Vanguard of History', in Miller, D. (Ed.)

 Acknowledging Consumption: A Review of New Studies, London:

 Routledge, pp. 1-57.
- Miller, D. E. (1981) The Case for Liberal Christianity, London: SCM Press.
- Mills, C. W. (1940) "Situated accounts and vocabularies of motive." <u>American</u>

 <u>Sociological Review</u>, 6: 904-913.
- Mirón, L. F. (1999) 'Postmodernism and the Politics of Racialized Identities', in Torres, R. D., Mirón, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) <u>Race, Identity and Citizenship: A Reader</u>, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 79-100.

- Mission Theological Advisory Group (2002) <u>Presence and Prophecy: A Heart</u>

 <u>for Mission in Theological Education</u>, London: Churches Together In

 Britain and Ireland / Church House Publishing.
- Modood, T. (1997a) 'Culture and Identity', in Modood, T., Berthoud, R.,

 Lakey, J.et al (Ed.) Ethnic Minorities in Britain: Diversity and

 Disadvantage, London: Policy Studies Institute, pp. 290-338.
- Modood, T. (1997b) 'Ethnic Diversity and Disadvantage', in Modood, T.,

 Berthoud, R., Lakey, J.et al (Ed.) Ethnic Minorities in Britain:

 Diversity and Disadvantage, London: Policy Studies Institute, pp. 339-359.
- Modood, T., Berthoud, R., et al (Ed.) (1997) <u>Ethnic Minorities in Britain:</u>

 <u>Diversity and Disadvantage</u>, London: Policy Studies Institute.
- Morisy, A. (1997) <u>Beyond the Good Samaritan: Community Ministry and Mission</u>, London: Continuum.
- Morisy, A. (2004) <u>Journeying Out: A New Approach to Christian Mission</u>, London: Continuum.
- Muleri, M. (2006) Confronting Performance: Troubled NNGO/SNGO

 Partnerships, NCVO & VSSN 12th Researching the Voluntary Sector

 Conference, University of Warwick, Coventry,13th-14th September

 2006, National Council for Voluntary Organisations / Voluntary Sector

 Studies Network.

- Murray, J. C. (1993) Religious Liberty: Catholic Struggles with Pluralism,
 Louisville, Kentucky: John Knox Press.
- Nappin, P. (2006) "Sermon Outline on Reader Ministry", retrieved 27th

 November 2006, from <

 http://www.cofe.anglican.org/lifeevents/ministry/workofmindiv/vrs

 c/vocations/vocsun/sermon_talk_outlines/vs_sermon_outline_on_rea

 der_ministry.doc >.
- Neary, M. (2002) <u>Faith in the Coalfields: Community Regeneration or Managing Decline?</u> London: Church Urban Fund.
- Neighbourhood Renewal Unit (2004) <u>Involving Faith Communities</u>, London:
 Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.
- Newbigin, L. (1989) <u>The Gospel in a Pluralist Society</u>, London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge.
- North West Development Agency (2003) Faith in England's North West: The

 Contribution Made by Faith Communities to Civil Society in the

 Region, Warrington, Cheshire: North West Development Agency.
- Nyang, S. and Johnston, D. (2003) 'Conflict Resolution as a Normative Value in Islamic Law: Application to the Republic of Sudan', in Johnston, D. (Ed.) <u>Faith-Based Diplomacy: Trumping Real-Politik</u>, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 210-230.

- O'Beirne, M. (2004) Religion in England and Wales: Findings from the 2001

 Home Office Citizenship Survey (Home Office Research Study 274),

 London: Home Office.
- O'Mahony, J. (2005) <u>Trust in Organisations: Religious Elites and Democracy</u>

 <u>in the Post-Communist Czech Republic</u>, London: Centre for Civil

 Society, London School of Economics.
- Oliver, D. and Thwaites, J. (2001) Church That Works, London: Word.
- Orton, A. (2006) Consultation Findings Report Creating a Faith-Based Route

 for the MA 'Community and Youth Work Studies' Programme at

 Durham University? June 2006, Durham: Durham University.
- Ottolenghi, E. (2000) 'Religion and Democracy in Israel', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) <u>Religion and Democracy</u>, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 39-49.
- Ouseley, H. (2001) <u>Community Pride Not Prejudice</u>, Bradford Vision.
- Palmer, P. J. (1993) <u>To Know As We Are Known: Education as a Spiritual Journey</u>, San Francisco: Harper.
- Palmer, P. J. (1998) <u>The Courage to Teach Exploring the Hidden Landscape</u>
 of a <u>Teacher's Life</u>, San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Palmer, P. J. (2000) <u>Let Your Life Speak: Listening for the Voice of Vocation</u>, San Francisco: Josey-Bass.

- Parekh, B. (2000) <u>The Future of Multi-Ethnic Britain</u>, London: Runnymede Trust.
- Parsons, T. (1965) 'Religious Perspectives in Sociology and Social Policy', in Lessa, A. and Vogt, E. Z. (Ed.) Reader in Comparative Religion: An Anthropological Approach, New York: Harper and Row.
- Paulo (2003) "National Occupational Standards for Community Development

 Work", retrieved 23 May 2006, from <
 http://www.lifelonglearninguk.org/documents/standards/cdw_nos.p

 df >.
- Perkin, H. (2000) 'American Fundamentalism and the Selling of God', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 79-89.
- Perkins, J. M. (1993) <u>Beyond Charity: The Call to Christian Community</u>

 <u>Development</u>, Grand Rapids, Michigan: Baker.
- Perry, M. J. (1997) Religion in Politics: Constitutional and Legal

 Perspectives, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pilger, J. (2006) "The First Real Casualty of War", New Stateman, 24th April 2006, < http://www.newstatesman.com/200604240013>.
- Plant, R. (1974) <u>Community and Ideology: An Essay in Applied Social</u>

 Philosophy, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

- Plant, S. (2004) "Does Faith Matter In Development?" retrieved 24/12/05, from < http://www.theology-centre.org/steveplant.doc>.
- Pollitt, C. (2000) "Is the Emperor in His Underwear? An Analysis of the Impacts of Public Management Reform." <u>Public Management</u>, 2(2): 181-199.
- Popple, K. (1995) <u>Analysing Community Work: Its Theory and Practice</u>,

 Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Powell, J. A. (1999) 'The Colorblind Multiracial Dilemma', in Torres, R. D.,

 Miron, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) Race, Identity and Citizenship: A

 Reader, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 141-157.
- Pugh, C. (1999) "Christian Youth Work: Evangelism or Social Action?" <u>Youth</u> and Policy, **65**(Autumn 1999).
- Purdam, K., Afkhami, R., et al (2007) "Religion in the UK: An Overview of Equality Statistics and Evidence Gaps." <u>Journal of Contemporary</u>
 Religion, 22(2): 147-168.
- Putnam, R. (1993) <u>Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy</u>,

 Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Putnam, R. (2000) <u>Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American</u>

 <u>Community</u>, New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Rawls, J. (1996) Political Liberalism, New York: Columbia University.

- Reader, J. (1994) <u>Local Theology: Church and Community in Dialogue</u>, London: Society for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge.
- Ritchie, D. (2001) <u>Oldham Independent Review: One Oldham, One Future,</u>

 Manchester: Government Office for the North West.
- Robinson, F. (2002) "The North East: A Journey Through Time." <u>City</u>, 6(3): 317-334.
- Rorty, R. (1994) "Religion as Conversation-Stopper." <u>Common Knowledge</u>, 3: 1-6.
- Rossiter, J. and Summers, S. (2004) <u>Assets for Life: Building Community in Your Neighbourhood</u>, London: The United Reformed Church.
- Rudolph, S. H. and Rudolph, L. (2000) 'Living with Difference in India', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 20-38.
- Runnymede Trust (2004) Realising the Vision Progress and Further

 Challenges: The report on the Commission on the Future of Multi
 Ethnic Britain (2004) revisited (Briefing Paper), April 2004, London:

 Runnymede Trust.
- Russell, H. (2004) <u>Urban Ministry and Theology Project, Newcastle East</u>

 <u>Deanery Evaluation Report, August 2004, Liverpool: European</u>

 Institute for Urban Affairs, Liverpool John Moores University.

- Sacks, J. (2002) <u>The Dignity of Difference</u>; <u>How to Avoid the Clash of Civilizations</u>, London: Continuum.
- Sardar, Z. and Malik, Z. A. (2004) Introducing Islam, Royston: Icon.
- Sawyer, D. (1996) The Church: Egality or Patriarchy?' in Cosslett, T., Easton,

 A. and Summerfield, P. (Ed.) Women, Power and Resistance: An

 Introduction to Women's Studies, Buckingham: Open University Press,

 pp. 58-68.
- Schaeffer, F. A. (1998) <u>Francis A. Schaeffer Trilogy</u>, Leiceister: Inter-Varsity Press.
- Schön, D. A. (1987) <u>Educating the Reflective Practitioner</u>, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Schutz, A. (1962) <u>Collected Papers I: The Problem of Social Reality</u>, The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Scott, M. and Lyman, S. (1968) "Accounts." <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 33(1): 46-62.
- Sector Skills Development Agency (2008) "About Occupational Standards",
 retrieved 3rd January 2008, from <
 http://www.ukstandards.co.uk/About_occupational_standards/defau
 http://www.ukstandards.co.uk/About_occupational_standards/defau

- Selby, M. and Smith, C. (1998) 'The Church's Mission in Society', in Hannaford, R. (Ed.) A Church for the 21st Century, Leominister, Herefordshire: Gracewing, pp. 144-175.
- Shah, T. S. (2000) 'Making the Christian World Safe for Liberalism: From Grotius to Rawls', in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 121-139.
- Shanafelt, R. (2002) "Idols of Our Tribes? Relativism, Truth and Falsity in Ethnographic Fieldwork and Cross-cultural Interaction." <u>Critique of Anthropology</u>, 22(1): 7-29.
- Shriver, P. L. (1983) 'Piety, Pluralism, and Politics', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.)

 Reformed Faith and Politics, Washington DC: University Press of

 America, pp. 49-63.
- Sim, J. (1998) "Collecting and Analyzing Qualitative Data: Issues Raised by the Focus Group." Journal of Advanced Nursing, 28(2): 345-352.
- Small, S. (1999) The Contours of Racialization: Structures, Representations and Resistance in the United States', in Torres, R. D., Miron, L. F. and Inda, J. X. (Ed.) Race, Identity and Citizenship: A Reader, Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 47-64.
- Smith, G. (1987) "Base Communities: Models of Good Practice in Urban

 Britain", retrieved 14th December 2004, from <

 http://mysite.wanadoo-members.co.uk/credoconsultancy/urbanmission/basecomm.txt>.

- Smith, G. (2000a) <u>Faith Makes Communities Work</u>, London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- Smith, G. (2002a) "Faith in the Voluntary Sector: A Common or Distinctive Experience of Religious Organisations?" <u>Voluntary Sector Studies</u>

 <u>Network Conference</u>, retrieved 24/12/05, from <
 http://homepages.uel.ac.uk/G.Smith/Tihe%20Faith%20Sectorfor%20m

 <u>anchester%20monograph%20(final).rtf</u> >.
- Smith, G. (2002b) "Religion and the Rise of Social Capitalism: the Faith Communities in Community Development and Urban Regeneration in England." Community Development Journal, 37(2): 167-177.
- Smith, G. (2004a) "Faith in Community and Communities of Faith?

 Government Rhetoric and Religious Identity in Urban Britain." <u>Journal of Contemporary Religion</u>, 19(2): 185-204.
- Smith, K. (2004b) <u>Faith in the North East: Social Action by Faith</u>

 <u>Communities in the Region</u>, Ushaw Moor, Durham: Churches Regional

 Commission for the North East.
- Smith, M. K. (1994) <u>Local Education: Community, Conversation, Praxis</u>,

 Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Smith, M. K. (2000b) "Robert Raikes and Sunday Schools", <u>The Informal Education Encyclopaedia</u>, retrieved 11th December 2007, from < http://www.infed.org/walking/wa-raikes.htm>.

- Smith, M. K. (2002c) "Community Centres (Centers) and Associations", <u>The Encyclopedia of Informal Education</u>, retrieved 11th December 2007, from < http://www.infed.org/association/b-comcen.htm >.
- Smith, M. K. (2005) "Parker J. Palmer: Community, Knowing and Spirituality in Education", <u>The Encyclopaedia of Informal Education</u>, retrieved 29/12/05, from < http://www.infed.org.uk/thinkers/palmer.htm >.
- Smith, M. K. (2007) "Social Capital", <u>The Encyclopedia of Informal Education</u>, retrieved 18th December 2007, from < www.infed.org/biblio/social_capital.htm >.
- Spencer, N. (2005) <u>Beyond the Fringe: Researching a Spiritual Age</u>, Calver, Derbyshire: Cliff College Publishing.
- Spickard, J. V., Landres, J. S. and McGuire, M. B. (Ed.) (2002) <u>Personal Knowledge and Beyond: Reshaping the Ethnography of Religion</u>, New York: New York University Press.
- Stake, R. E. (2000) 'Case Studies', in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y., S. (Ed.)

 Handbook of Qualitative Research, London: Sage, pp. 435-454.
- Stone, R. H. (1983) 'Introduction to Reformed Faith and Politics', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.) <u>Reformed Faith and Politics</u>, Washington DC: University Press of America, pp. 1-22.
- Stringer, E. T. (1999) Action Research, London: Sage.

- Swinton, J. (2001) <u>Spirituality and Mental Health: Rediscovering a 'Forgotten</u>

 <u>Dimension'</u>, London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Swinton, J. and Mowat, H. (2006) <u>Practical Theology and Qualitative</u>

 Research, London: SCM Press.
- The Catholic Agency for Social Concern (2001) Yesterday, Today and

 Tomorrow: The Past, Present and Future of Catholic Social Welfare

 Services in England and Wales, London: The Catholic Agency for Social Concern.
- The Shaftesbury Society (2002) <u>The Cephas Story: God with Skin On</u>, London:
 The Shaftesbury Society.
- The Shaftesbury Society (2003a) <u>Life Centre Story: The Life Centre Salford</u>
 so far., London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- The Shaftesbury Society (2003b) Mystery in the Ordinary: The Story of the Shaftesbury Centre in Eastbourne, London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- The Shaftesbury Society (2004) <u>Challenging Church: A Shaftesbury Report</u>, London: The Shaftesbury Society.
- The World Bank (1999) "What is Social Capital?" retrieved 18th December 2007, from < http://go.worldbank.org/K4LUMW43B0 >.
- Torry, M. (2005) <u>Managing God's Business: Religious and Faith-Based</u>

 <u>Organisations and their Management</u>, Aldershot: Ashgate.

- Turner, D. (1999) 'Marxism, Liberation Theology and the Way of Negation', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 199-217.
- United Reformed Church (2005) "Church Related Community Work", retrieved 29th January 2005, from < http://www.urc.org.uk/crcw/what_is_CRCW.htm >.
- United Reformed Church (2006) "Church-Related Community Work

 Covenant", retrieved 24 May 2006, from <

 http://www.urc.org.uk/crcw/crcw_documentation/THE%20CRCW%20

 COVENANT.doc.pdf >.
- Urry, J. (2000) <u>Sociology Beyond Societies: Mobilities for the twenty-first</u>
 century, London: Routledge.
- Vidich, A. J. and Lyman, S. M. (2000) 'Qualitative Methods: Their History in Sociology and Anthropology', in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y., S. (Ed.)

 Handbook of Qualitative Research, London: Sage, pp. 37-84.
- Villa-Vicencio, C. (1992) <u>A Theology of Reconstruction Nation-Building and Human Rights</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Villa-Vicencio, C. (1999) 'Liberation and Reconstruction: The Unfinished Agenda', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) <u>The Cambridge Companion to Liberation</u>

 Theology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 153-176.

- Wainwright, M. (2006) "School Assistant Who Would Not Compromise Over Veil is Sacked", <u>The Guardian</u>, Saturday November 25th, 2006, < http://education.guardian.co.uk/schools/story/0,1956669,00.html.
- Wallis, J. (2002) <u>Faith Works: Lessons on Spirituality and Social Action</u>, London: Society for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge.
- Watchtower (2004) "Should the Clergy Preach Politics? / Does Neutrality

 Hinder Christian Love?" The Watchtower: Announcing Jehovah's

 Kingdom, 125(9): 3-7.
- Webb, S. A. (2006) <u>Social Work in a Risk Society: Social and Political Perspectives</u>, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wedlock, E. (2006) Crime and Cohesive Communities, London: Home Office.
- Weeks, J. (1990) 'The Value of Difference', in Rutherford, J. (Ed.) <u>Identity:</u>

 <u>Community, Culture, Difference</u>, London: Lawrence and Wishart, pp. 88-100.
- Weller, P., Feldman, A. and Purdam, K. (2001) <u>Religious Discrimination in England and Wales</u>, London: Home Office Research and Statistics Directorate.
- Wenger, E. (1998) <u>Communities of Practice</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- West, G. (1999) The Bible and the Poor: A New Way of Doing Theology, in Rowland, C. (Ed.) The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 129-152.
- White, J. E. (1997) Rethinking the Church: A Challenge to Creative Redesign in an Age of Transition, Michegan: Baker Books.
- Wielenga, B. (1999) 'Liberation Theology in Asia', in Rowland, C. (Ed.) <u>The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 39-68.
- William Temple Foundation (2003) Regenerating Communities: A Theological and Strategic Critique, 2002-5; First Year Synopsis, January 2003, Manchester: William Temple Foundation.
- Williams, R. (1976) Keywords, London: Fontana/Croom Helm.
- Wilson, B. (1982) <u>Religion in Sociological Perspective</u>, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wilson, B. R. (1966) Religion in Secular Society: A Sociological Comment,
 London: Watts.
- Winkler, T. (2006) 'Super-Sizing Community Development Initiatives: The Case of Hillbrow's Faith Sector ', 'Faith-Based Organisations and Poverty in the City' Conference, Antwerp, UCSIA, December 2006.

- Winn, A. C. (1983) The Reformed Tradition and Liberation Theology', in Stone, R. H. (Ed.) <u>Reformed Faith and Politics</u>, Washington DC: University Press of America, pp. 77-91.
- Wittberg, P. (2006) <u>From Piety to Professionalism and Back?</u>

 <u>Transformations of Organized Religious Virtuosity</u>, Oxford: Lexington.
- Yeung, A. B. (2004) <u>Individually Together Volunteering in Late Modernity:</u>

 <u>Social Work in the Finnish Church</u>, Helsinki: The Finnish Federation for Social Welfare and Health.
- Yeung, A. B., Beckman, N. E. and Pettersson, P. (Ed.) (2006) Churches in Europe as Agents of Welfare Working Papers, Uppsala: Uppsala Institute for Diaconal and Social Studies.
- Yin, R. K. (1994) Case Study Research: Design and Methods, London: Sage.
- Zubaida, S. (2000) Trajectories of Political Islam: Egypt, Iran and Turkey, in Marquand, D. and Nettler, R. L. (Ed.) Religion and Democracy, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, pp. 60-78.

